Concession Agreement for Food and Beverage Concession at City Venues



Table of Contents

Table of Contents	2
1 Definitions	3
2 Premises, Uses and Privileges	8
3 Term	
4 Payments	8
5 Reports and Records	10
6 Books of Account and Auditing	11
7 Concession Rights and Obligations	13
8 Inspection and Testing by City	
9 Right of Entry Reserved	
10 Ingress and Egress	21
11 Permits and Licenses	21
12 Governmental Compliance	21
13 No Discrimination in Employment	
14 Utilities	
15 Repairs and Maintenance	22
16 Alterations and Repairs by Concessionaire	24
17 Damage to or Destruction of Premises	26
18 Insurance, Liability and Bonds	27
19 Termination by City	
20 Non-Waiver by City	
21 Agreement Not Assignable	
22 Concessionaire Independent Contractor	33
23 Surrender of Premises	
24 No Personal Liability	
25 Representations, Warranties	34
26 Operating Standards	34
27 Conflict of Interest by City Officer	34
28 Force Majeure	
29 Patents, Trademarks and Copyrighted Products	35
30 No Liability for Water Damage	36
31 Interpretation	36
32 Severability	36
33 Quiet Enjoyment	37
34 Notices	37
35. No Employment of Illegal Aliens to Perform Work Under the Agreement	38
36 Environmental Requirements	
37 Entire Agreement	
38 Exhibits	
39 Legal Authority	40
40 Use, Possession, or Sale of Alcohol or Drugs	41
41 Colorado Governmental Immunity Act	41

CONCESSION AGREEMENT

This Concession Agreement (this "Agreement") is entered into by and between the City and County of Denver, a municipal corporation organized and existing by virtue of Article XX of the Constitution of the State of Colorado, hereinafter called "City," and ARAMARK Sports and Entertainment Services, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, hereinafter called the "Concessionaire".

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, City is the owner of the Red Rocks Amphitheatre and the Denver Coliseum, and the operator of Crossroads Theatre located in the City and County of Denver, Colorado; and

WHEREAS, Concessionaire is engaged in the business of providing food, alcoholic and non-alcoholic beverages, and retail service, including concession, banquet and catering services, and consignment services; and

WHEREAS, except as specifically provided otherwise in this Agreement, City wishes to grant to Concessionaire the sole and exclusive right to conduct the aforesaid business at the City Venues.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, terms, conditions, privileges and obligations herein set forth, and intending themselves to be legally bound hereby, City and Concessionaire mutually agree as follows:

1 Definitions

Unless otherwise specifically indicated in this Agreement, the following words and phrases shall be defined as follows:

Accounting Period - shall mean two (2) accounting periods of four (4) weeks each and one (1) accounting period of five (5) weeks which occur in each calendar quarter. Each calendar quarter shall contain three (3) "Accounting Periods" and each fiscal year shall contain twelve (12) "Accounting Periods". Notwithstanding the foregoing, Concessionaire's annual reporting to the City (including, its annual Statement of Receipts and Expenses) shall include January 1 through and including December 31 for each Contract Year.

Agreement – is this Concession Agreement by and between City and Concessionaire.

AVD - Arts & Venues Denver - is defined as an agency for the City and County of Denver that manages or oversees the City-owned or managed facilities of the Denver Coliseum, Red Rocks Amphitheatre, Crossroads Theater, Denver Performing Arts Complex, and Colorado Convention Center. The facilities managed by Arts and Venues Denver may be modified from time to time by either adding or deleting property.

Backstage Catering – shall mean City-approved Catering Services (defined below) for performers and crew at the Facilities.

Catering Services - shall mean the preparation and serving of food and beverage at a per-plate, per-person charge, where payment for the entire function rests with one individual or company.

Certification Ordinance - shall have the meaning provided in Section 35.A of this Agreement.

City - refers to the City and County of Denver.

City-Provided Equipment - shall have the meaning provided in Section 7.U of this Agreement.

City Venues – see definition of Facilities below.

Concessionaire – shall mean ARAMARK Sports and Entertainment Services, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and its employees, agents, and legal representatives.

Concession Services - shall refer to all sales of food and beverage from permanent or portable concession stands, sales of food and beverage in the City Venues before, during, or after events, and sales of food and beverage by roving vendors in the City Venues.

Contract Year - is a calendar year.

Concessionaire Fee – shall mean the amount of money paid to the Concessionaire for Services performed at City Venues as provided in Section 4.B.

Cost of Sales – shall mean and include all costs and expenses incurred by Concessionaire in the operation of the Services at the Facilities, including, but not limited to, the direct product costs, payroll and personnel costs of Concessionaire's employees assigned to the Facilities (including bonuses, gratuities and the costs of fringe benefits of the type customarily provided by Concessionaire and its affiliates to its employees, workers' compensation costs and payroll taxes, but not including regional or general corporate management personnel), the Concessionaire Fee, allocated insurance costs (including, without limitation, liquor liability insurance), permitting and licensing fees (including, without limitation, liquor licensing fees and any related attorney's fees, provided that such attorney's fees have been approved by the City in accordance with Section 7.F), taxes (including, without limitation, state and local sales taxes), costs of required employee uniforms, costs of utilities and all other costs of supplies and services used or attributable to the provision of the Concession Services, including, but not limited to, costs which are reimbursable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, costs of alcohol awareness training (e.g. TIPS or TEAM), costs of training of staff and management, costs of annual health examinations required under this Agreement for Concessionaire's employees, costs of installation of cash and product computerized control systems, costs of any maintenance of equipment and smallwares, cleaning costs, maintenance, repair and replacement expenses contemplated by the Agreement, disposal of grease costs, vending operation costs, extermination costs and permitted bad debt expense contemplated by this Agreement. Cost of

Sales shall not include the fees set forth in Sections 4.D and 4.E of this Agreement. For purposes of determining direct product costs, local trade discounts will be credited to direct product costs but cash discounts or discounts not exclusively related to Concessionaire's operations at the Facilities shall not be credited to such direct product costs. Without limitation of the foregoing, in the event Concessionaire's costs increase due to increases in employee health and welfare benefits costs for Concessionaire's employees assigned to the Facilities, including, but not limited to, an increase in required employer contributions to social security or payroll taxes (including retroactive changes to such contributions), such increased costs shall automatically be included in Cost of Sales, such adjustment to be retroactive to the date of such increase. Notwithstanding the foregoing and anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, Cost of Sales shall not include costs or expenses necessitated as a direct result and to the extent of the negligence or willful misconduct of Concessionaire.

Daily Report - shall have the meaning provided in Section 5.B of this Agreement.

Director - shall mean the Director of AVD, as from time to time appointed by the Mayor of Denver, and shall include his or her designee(s) and such person or persons as may from time to time be authorized to represent the City with respect to any or all matters pertaining to this Agreement. Except as otherwise required by law or rules of the City, any matter under this Agreement that requires or permits the action or approval of the City may be acted upon or approved by the Director.

Environmental Laws - shall have the meaning provided in Section 36 of this Agreement.

Facilities - shall mean Red Rocks Amphitheatre (including the Visitor Center and Trading Post), The Denver Coliseum and The Crossroads Theater; provided, however, that in the event that the City's lease of The Crossroads is not renewed, for any reason, Facilities shall mean Red Rocks Amphitheatre (including the Visitor Center and Trading Post) and The Denver Coliseum.

GAAP - generally (industry wide) accepted accounting procedures

Gross Receipts – shall refer to the total amount of money, administrative (or service) and rental charges received or charged by the Concessionaire, or any agent, employee of the Concessionaire for all sales, cash or credit, whether collected or not, derived at the City Venues as a result of the service rights granted under the Agreement, excluding applicable sales taxes. Gross Receipts shall also include Miscellaneous Gross Receipts and one hundred percent (100%) of any commissions actually paid by Subcontractors and third party vendors to Concessionaire. Gross Receipts shall also not include (i) gratuities to the extent that those gratuities are paid by Concessionaire directly to its employees or (ii) ordinary and customary credit card fees paid.

Gross Sales - shall mean the total revenue (cash and credit) actually received by Concessionaire from the operation of the Services at the Facilities <u>less</u> (i) sales taxes and other direct taxes imposed upon receipts collected from consumers, (ii) tips and gratuities, which are disbursed to employees, (iii) any administrative charge (or service charge) for private events, which is not intended to be a tip or gratuity for the benefit of service employees, (iv) credit/debit/gift card

transaction fees and charges and (v) any sums retained by Subcontractors or third party vendors and not paid to Concessionaire.

Gross Profit – shall mean all Gross Receipts less the Cost of Sales.

HACCP – Federal guideline program entitled "Hazard Analysis Critical Control Point" dealing with correct holding temperatures and handling methodologies required for various food products.

Hazardous Materials - shall have the meaning provided in Section 36 of this Agreement.

Incentive Compensation – shall mean the compensation paid to Concessionaire in addition to the Concessionaire Fee as described in Section 4.C.

Incentive Criteria – shall have the meaning provided in Section 4.C of this Agreement.

Inventory Method – shall mean the system used to count product before and after a sales period to determine the sold units of each product. The sold units, exclusive of any spoilage, are multiplied by the unit pricing to determine the total sales for a Location. Spoilage shall be kept at a minimum and shall include employee meals; without limiting the generality of the foregoing, for each Accounting Period, any cost associated with spoilage that exceeds 0.5 percent of the total food cost for the subject Accounting Period shall be borne solely by Concessionaire and shall not be considered a Cost of Sales.

Location, Locations, Space or Spaces - shall mean the area or areas of the City Venues designated by this Agreement and its exhibits as the place or places where the business of Concessionaire may be conducted. Areas may change periodically as directed by the Director.

Minimum Guaranteed Payment – shall mean the minimum amount of money paid to the City by the Concessionaire as called for in this Agreement.

Miscellaneous Gross Receipts – shall mean the monies retained by Concessionaire from the provision of automated teller machine ("ATM") and Vending Equipment services, less any direct costs incurred by Concessionaire.

Monthly Financial Report – shall have the meaning provided in Section 5.A of this Agreement.

Non-performance - shall have the meaning provided in Section 19.D of this Agreement.

Novelties - shall mean any merchandise, programs, souvenir books, CD's, t-shirts, etc. that are made available for sale at the Facilities.

Novelties Services – shall refer to all sales of Novelties in the City Venues before, during, or after events.

Operating Loss – shall have the meaning provided in Section 4.I of this Agreement.

Payment Non-performance - shall have the meaning provided in Section 19.D of this Agreement.

Prompt Payment Ordinance – shall have the meaning provided in Section 4.B of this Agreement.

Records - shall have the meaning provided in Section 6.C of this Agreement.

Release - shall have the meaning provided in Section 36 of this Agreement.

Remaining Reserve Funds – shall have the meaning provided in Section 15.G of this Agreement.

Reserve Funds – shall have the meaning provided in Section 15.G of this Agreement.

Services – shall refer collectively to the Concession Services, the Catering Services, and the Novelties Services.

Sponsors – shall refer to all entities that have entered into or will be entering into an agreement with City for some consideration in return for sponsorship of their product. Where a Sponsor's product is related to food and beverage, Concessionaire will be obligated to provide that Sponsor's product to the extent permitted by applicable law and provided that such products are available to Concessionaire at equivalent prices, terms, quality and quantity as are generally available to Concessionaire from its major supplier of similar products.

Statement of Receipts and Expenses - shall have the meaning provided in Section 6.A of this Agreement.

Subcontractor – shall refer to a food, beverage and merchandise purveyor contracted by Concessionaire to provide a unique and specialized product for sale to the general public attending events at the City Venues. Use of any Subcontractors by Concessionaire must be preapproved by Director. Any commissions paid to Concessionaire by its Subcontractors shall be included in Gross Receipts.

Tenant – refers to any person or entity that may from time to time enter into any agreement with City for the use of the City Venues for a particular purpose.

Term – shall refer to November 1, 2012 to October 31, 2017.

TIPS, TEAM – programs related to alcoholic beverage management control systems and certain procedures to be implemented by the Concessionaire when serving guests.

Vending Equipment – shall mean all automatic vending machine equipment that serves canned, cartoned, and/or pre-packaged foods in an automated manner.

2 Premises, Uses and Privileges

- **A.** The Concessionaire shall use and occupy the Spaces shown on the drawings, attached hereto as **Exhibit A** and made a part hereof, only for the purpose of conducting and operating, within the City Venues, as an independent contractor and not as an employee of City, the Services described in Section 7, and Concessionaire's associated rights and obligations described in this Agreement, consistent with the terms and conditions as set forth in this Agreement. It is further agreed and understood that Concessionaire shall be permitted to occupy and use other common use areas such as, but not limited to, the concourses and the aisles in the seating areas in connection with the operation of its rights granted hereunder.
- **B.** Concessionaire shall use and occupy the Spaces described in <u>Exhibit A</u> solely for the business and purpose described in Section 2.A and for no other business or purpose whatsoever except as otherwise approved by the Director.
- C. The Director may limit or eliminate those portable concession cart sites identified on Exhibit A to accommodate event requirements. The location of any and all portable concession cart sites and storage spaces required by Concessionaire shall be approved by Director; provided, however, that Concessionaire shall acquire no rights to the location of such sites or spaces, it being understood by the parties that the City reserves the right to require Concessionaire to eliminate or relocate such sites and spaces and/or to relocate or remove items and equipment from storage spaces to accommodate event requirements.

3 Term

The term of this Agreement shall commence November 1, 2012 and continue through and including October 31, 2017.

4 Payments

In consideration of the rights and privileges herein granted, Concessionaire and City agree to the following:

- **A.** Minimum Guaranteed Payment to City —Concessionaire shall pay monthly to the City an amount equal to fifty-percent (50%) of the Gross Sales for each Accounting Period. The Minimum Guaranteed Payment shall be paid to the City at the same time that Concessionaire provides the City with its Monthly Financial Report for the subject Accounting Period.
- **B.** Concessionaire Fee City shall pay monthly to Concessionaire an amount equal to one and one-half percent (1.5%) of the Gross Sales for each Accounting Period (the "Concessionaire Fee"). The Concessionaire Fee shall be paid to Concessionaire upon the City's receipt of an invoice and the Monthly Financial Report for the subject Accounting Period in accordance with the City's Prompt Payment Ordinance, §§ 20-107 through 20-118, Denver Revised Municipal Code (D.R.M.C.) (the "**Prompt Payment**

- **Ordinance**"). Further, notwithstanding Section 4.I below, the City shall continue to pay Concessionaire the Concessionaire Fee in the event of an Operating Loss.
- C. Incentive Compensation —City shall pay annually to Concessionaire after each Contract Year compensation in addition to the Concessionaire Fee in an amount equal to seven percent (7%) of Gross Profit ("Incentive Compensation"); provided that Concessionaire shall receive Incentive Compensation only if (i) the City shall have received from the Concessionaire all due and owing Minimum Guaranteed Payments; (ii) the Minimum Guaranteed Payments are not reduced as a result of payment of Incentive Compensation; and (iii) the incentive criteria attached hereto and incorporated herein Exhibit B (the "Incentive Criteria") shall have been satisfied by Concessionaire as demonstrated by the auditable report described in Section 6.A below. City may, in its sole discretion, waive or deduct any Cost of Sales from the calculation of Incentive Compensation. [ADDITIONAL COMMENT RESERVED PENDING FINALIZATION OF EXHIBIT B]
- **D. Document Preparation Fee -** As a contract condition, the Concessionaire shall pay a fee of Twenty-Three Thousand and No/100 Dollars (\$23,000.00) to the City at the time of execution of this Agreement.
- **E. Bonus Fee** Concessionaire shall pay to City a one-time bonus fee of Fifty-Thousand and No/100 Dollars (\$50,000.00) by the later of: (i) within ten (10) business days of execution by each of the City and Concessionaire of (1) this Agreement and (2) a facilities services agreement for the Red Rocks Amphitheatre, the Denver Coliseum, and the Denver Performing Arts Complex with a scheduled expiration date of at least October 31, 2015 (with an additional two (2) year option to extend); or (ii) after January 1, 2013 but on or before January 15, 2013...
- **F.** Taxes Concessionaire shall collect and promptly disburse all taxes required by federal, state and local authorities for any sales conducted by Concessionaire in the City Venues and shall pay any applicable taxes relating to food service operations, equipment, or inventory (other than with respect to City owned/purchased equipment and smallwares as described in this Agreement).
- **G. Miscellaneous Promotional Agreements** From time to time, in the best interests of the City, the City may direct Concessionaire to adopt promotional or marketing efforts to increase sales of food, beverage or other services. When these marketing/promotional efforts occur, Concessionaire and City shall in writing mutually agree on terms and document the effort with the details including, among other things, a description of the effort and pricing.
- **H. Annual Appropriations.** The City's payment obligation, whether direct or contingent, extends only to funds appropriated annually by the Denver City Council, paid into the Treasury of the City, and encumbered for the purpose of this Agreement. The City does not by this Agreement irrevocably pledge present cash reserves for payment or performance in future fiscal years, and this Agreement does not and is not intended to create a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or financial obligation of the City.

- I. Operating Losses. City, and not Concessionaire, shall be responsible for all Cost of Sales. Concessionaire will fund, on City's behalf and to the extent of available Gross Receipts as provided in this Section 4.I, all Cost of Sales. If the Cost of Sales for a given Accounting Period exceed the Gross Receipts for a given Accounting Period (which difference shall be referred to herein as "Operating Loss"), the Operating Loss shall be carried forward and reported as a separate line item in the Monthly Financial Report for the next Accounting Period (and for each subsequent Accounting Period that an Operating Loss exists), and City shall not be required to pay Concessionaire for the Operating Loss unless and until an Operating Loss remains at the end of the Contract Year (as provided below). In the event of an Operating Loss during any Accounting Period, Concessionaire shall nonetheless pay to City the Minimum Guaranteed Payment for the subject Accounting Period and City shall nonetheless pay to Concessionaire the Concessionaire Fee for the subject Accounting Period. If at the end of a Contract Year, there exists an Operating Loss, City shall pay Concessionaire the amount of such Operating Loss upon its receipt of an invoice and the Statement of Receipts and Expenses in accordance with the City's Prompt Payment Ordinance.
- **J. Termination Payment.** Upon expiration of the Term or sooner termination of this Agreement, for any reason, City shall, upon receipt of an invoice in a format and with a level of detail and supporting documentation that are reasonably acceptable to City, pay Concessionaire amounts due and payable for Services rendered under this Agreement in accordance with the City's Prompt Payment Ordinance.

5 Reports and Records

- A. Monthly Report On or before the close of business on the third (3rd) business day after the end of each Accounting Period during the term of this Agreement, Concessionaire shall deliver to the authorized officer of City, as determined by City, a summary statement of Concessionaire's operations at the City Venues for the Accounting Period (the "Monthly Financial Report"). Notwithstanding the foregoing, Concessionaire acknowledges and understands that City's reporting processes operate on a calendar month basis; as such, if requested by City, Concessionaire shall include in the Monthly Financial Report(s) estimates with respect to the days of the subject calendar month that are not included in the subject Accounting Period. The Monthly Financial Report shall be signed by an authorized representative of Concessionaire and shall include, among other things as specified by City: all total receipts, Gross Receipts, Gross Sales, Cost of Sales (including Concessionaire Fee), Gross Profit margin, Minimum Guaranteed Payment and Incentive Compensation. A sample Monthly Financial Statement is attached hereto as Exhibit C.
- **B. Daily Report** By noon following the close of each event at a City Venue, Concessionaire shall generate and remit to City, through Director, a report (each, a "**Daily Report**") indicating any and all total receipts, Gross Receipts, Gross Sales, and per capita event receipts for each sales category shown on the sample Daily Report

- attached hereto as **Exhibit D**. Reports are only required for days that any Gross Receipts are made. The Daily Reports are informational and should be used to roll up into a consolidated Monthly Financial Report by event for each event during the month.
- C. Acceptance of Payment The acceptance by City of any statement by Concessionaire or of any Minimum Guaranteed Payment shall not be deemed a waiver of the right of City to claim any additional payment after a review and inspection of Concessionaire's books and records.
- **D.** Cash Registers and Inventory Sheets At all locations where cash registers are used, cash register tapes shall be balanced with the inventory to determine the sales and Gross Receipts from that location. In locations where cash registers are not in use, the Inventory Method will be used to determine sales and Gross Receipts. Concessionaire shall retain all cash register receipts and stand inventory sheets in accordance with this Agreement; these documents are subject to audit by City by provisions of this Agreement.

6 Books of Account and Auditing

- A. Annual Reports Not later than forty-five (45) calendar days of the close of each Contract Year during the Term hereof, Concessionaire shall furnish to City a true and accurate (i) audited financial statement of Gross Receipts, Gross Sales, and Cost of Sales in the general form attached hereto as **Exhibit E** (the "Statement of Receipts and Expenses"), and (ii) audited report of Concessionaire's compliance with the Incentive Criteria. The Statement of Receipts and Expenses shall contain and include (without limitation) a breakdown of Gross Receipts, Gross Sales, Cost of Sales, Minimum Guaranteed Payments, and amounts payable to Concessionaire (including the Incentive Compensation and Concessionaire Fee, as applicable) on a month-by-month basis and shall be prepared and certified by an independent certified public accountant that has audited the same in accordance with GAAP for special reports. Such statement shall be furnished for every Contract Year in which business was transacted under this Agreement during the whole or any part of the year. The report of Concessionaire's compliance with the Incentive Criteria shall be audited by an independent third party. At City's sole discretion, and at City's sole cost and expense, City may conduct a review of Concessionaire's books and records with respect to the Statement of Receipts and Expenses through City's Auditor or by hiring an independent CPA and the Incentive Criteria report through City's Auditor or an independent third party agreed to by the parties. [ADDITIONAL COMMENT RESERVED PENDING FINALIZATION OF EXHIBIT B
- **B. Bookkeeping System** Concessionaire agrees to establish and maintain a system of bookkeeping satisfactory to City Auditor. Such system shall be kept in a manner as to allow each Location of Concessionaire's operations hereunder to be distinguished from all other Locations or operations of Concessionaire.

- C. Records Maintenance Concessionaire shall maintain, in accordance with GAAP, accurate books and records in connection with the business conducted by Concessionaire hereunder. Concessionaire shall retain such books and records for a period of three (3) years following the end of the Contract Year to which they pertain and shall make such books and records available for inspection by representatives of City and any of its Such books and records shall include, without agents, including City's Auditor. limitation, all sales slips, cash register tapes, stand sheets, sales books, bank books or duplicate deposit slips, and all other evidence of total receipts, Gross Receipts, Gross Sales, Cost of Sales, Minimum Guaranteed Payments, Concessionaire Fees, Incentive Compensation, Monthly Financial Statements, Daily Reports, Statements of Gross Receipts and Expenses, and audited reports regarding compliance with the Incentive Criteria (collectively, the "Records"). City and any of its agents including City's Auditor, at City's sole cost and expense, shall have the right at all reasonable times to inspect or audit all such Records. [ADDITIONAL COMMENT RESERVED PENDING FINALIZATION OF EXHIBIT B
- **D. Examination of Books** Concessionaire upon written request shall make the Records available for examination within the Denver metropolitan area; or, if elected by Concessionaire, Concessionaire shall pay to City in full, in advance, travel and related expenses of a City representative to travel to any location outside the Denver metropolitan area for such examination. Following the travel, if applicable, expenses shall be reconciled, and any difference between the advance payment and the actual expenses shall be paid by or refunded to Concessionaire as appropriate. Such documents shall be available to City representative within fourteen (14) calendar days of the date of the written request. The parties agree that any delay in furnishing such records to City will cause damages to City which the parties agree are liquidated in the amount of Three Hundred and Fifty Dollars (\$350.00) per day for each day the records are unavailable beyond the date established as City's notice.
- **E. Audit Deficiencies** If City determines after an audit for any year that the payments made to the City were understated or materially misstated in the Statement of Receipts and Expenses, Concessionaire shall pay the amount of the deficiency plus interest at the Past Due Interest Rate (2% per month compounded daily computed from the date due until the date paid). If such payments were understated or materially misstated by more than 1%, Concessionaire shall pay to City the cost of the audit, in addition to the deficiency and interest. If City determines after an audit that the City was overpaid, the City shall have the option to either credit an overpayment against a subsequent amount due or provide a refund to Concessionaire. City's right to perform such an audit shall expire three (3) years after Concessionaire's statement for that year has been delivered to City.
- **F. Inspection of Records** The Concessionaire agrees that City and any of its agents including City's Auditor, or an authorized representative of the City's Auditor, may inspect any document, return, data or report filed pursuant to Chapter 53 of the Denver Revised Municipal Code by Concessionaire with City's Manager of Finance and any related reports, document, data or other information generated by City's Manager of

Finance or employees under the control of such Manager of Finance in connection with any investigation or audit of Concessionaire by City's Department of Finance. The Concessionaire authorizes and permits the inspection of such documents, data, returns, reports and information by City and any of its agents including City's Auditor, or an authorized representative of the City's Auditor, and, further, waives any claim of confidentiality that it may have in connection with such documents, returns, data, reports and information.

7 Concession Rights and Obligations

- A. Exclusive Rights Except where stated in this Agreement, Concessionaire shall have exclusive right to provide Concession Services, Novelties Services, and Catering Services within the Facilities, as they presently exist. City shall not permit non-Concessionaire portable concession stands and carts or transient vendors of food and beverage items to be located in City-owned parking lots adjacent to the City Venues on event days. City reserves the right to allow such transient vendors or portable concession stands to be located in such adjacent parking lots on non-event days in the City Venues to serve activities or gatherings held in such parking lots only; provided, however, City shall have such right after first allowing Concessionaire to provide food and beverage services on such non-event days and Concessionaire has declined to do so. Concessionaire may be allowed to have Concession Services, Catering Services, or Novelties Services in the parking lots on event days at the discretion of City. Concessionaire shall coordinate its activities hereunder as they relate to this Agreement with City and Director.
- **B. Non-Exclusive Rights** Director may require and/or Concessionaire may request that Concessionaire, either directly or by subcontract, provide non-exclusive Vending Equipment and ATM services. Vending Equipment and ATM services shall not be used except with the prior written approval of Director. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any proposal for Vending Equipment that is submitted for Director's approval shall describe, without limitation: the items to be sold, pricing, type and style of the equipment, and locations. Concessionaire shall be responsible for accounting for receipts and expenses in accordance with Sections 5 and 6 of this Agreement.

C. Exclusive Rights Exceptions

1. Concessionaire acknowledges that (i) certain agreements have been made in the past at the Facilities, granting rights to certain Tenants such as National Western Stock Show and Ringling Brothers Circus and more recently to the Denver Cutthroats (a member of the Central Hockey League), to sell special products; and (ii) it is common industry practice to permit on a limited basis the sales of particular concession items by a Tenant. Where there is historic precedent at the Facilities for a Tenant to sell special products, where the Denver Cutthroats are selling special products, or where special sales arrangements would be common and accepted industry practice, the City may permit a Tenant or user of the Facilities a limited exemption from the rights granted Concessionaire herein. In all other cases where a Tenant desires to sell products ("Other Tenants"),

exemptions are subject to the approval of Concessionaire and such conditions as Concessionaire may reasonably impose, such as the payment of an outside concession fee (or buyout payment), and such other terms and conditions as would be standard in such agreements. Without otherwise limiting the foregoing, the City agrees to require Other Tenants that are granted rights to sell products at the Facilities, by agreements entered into after Concessionaire and the City have both executed this Agreement, to indemnify and hold harmless Concessionaire with respect to such selling of products to the same extent of the indemnification provided to the City. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (1) Concessionaire shall have no approval authority over the terms of the insurance, indemnification, and hold harmless agreements between the City and the Other Tenants and (2) nothing herein shall affect Concessionaire's obligations to maintain insurance and to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the City pursuant to the terms of this Agreement (it being understood and agreed by the parties hereto that such obligations of Concessionaire do not include coverage of or responsibility for any acts, omissions or services provided by Other Tenants or third party service providers). The City's obligation to require Other Tenants to indemnify and hold Concessionaire harmless shall apply only to those agreements entered into by the City after Concessionaire and the City have both executed this Agreement. The amount of any outside concession fee (or buyout payment) actually received by Concessionaire shall be included in the Gross Receipts.

- 2. City and Concessionaire agree that Concessionaire has an exclusive right to provide Catering Services within the City Venues except as follows: When City's Tenant for a special event requests the use of an outside caterer and City agrees; provided, however, that Concessionaire shall sell or serve alcoholic beverages within the City Venues and, if any of Concessionaire's equipment or exclusive area must be used by the outside caterer, the use of such equipment or area shall be negotiated between Concessionaire and the outside caterer, which agreement may include, without limitation, liability insurance and indemnification and hold harmless agreements by the applicable third party service provider, as applicable, in a form acceptable to Concessionaire for the benefit of City and Concessionaire. Concessionaire shall be notified reasonably in advance of any intent to use any of the food service facilities of the City Venues by anyone other than Concessionaire.
- **D.** Applicable Laws Concessionaire shall at all times comply with all applicable laws, rules, regulations and orders of the federal, state and local governments, and also abide by all rules, regulations and directives prescribed by the Director for the operation of the City Venues.
- **E. Food Safety** Concessionaire is solely responsible for complying with all industry standard food safety procedures, including HACCP, and for any health issues arising from the service of food by Concessionaire or any of its employees or agents.
- **F.** Liquor Law Compliance The privilege to sell alcoholic beverages shall be subject to the provision of all laws of the State of Colorado and the City and County of Denver

applicable to the sale of liquor, wine and beer. Concessionaire shall be responsible for obtaining all necessary licenses for the sale of such beverages. The fees and costs incurred for such licenses shall be included in the Cost of Sales; provided that Concessionaire shall provide for the Director's prior written approval an estimate of related attorneys' fees, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Director's prior written approval of an attorneys' cost estimate shall not be required if the circumstances reasonably require the prompt assistance of an attorney, in which event Concessionaire shall make reasonable efforts to promptly contact the Director (including, by telephone or electronic means) to explain the circumstances and, as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, shall provide for the Director's approval an estimate of attorneys' fees, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Liquor sales shall be confined to the areas of the City Venues designated and approved by the licenses held by Concessionaire for the sale of liquor.

A. Suspension of Liquor License – In the event that Concessionaire's liquor licenses(s) is lost or suspended and, as a result, Concessionaire is prevented from selling alcoholic beverages at the applicable Facilities under the terms of this Agreement (a "Material License Impairment"), then Concessionaire shall use its best efforts to obtain a new license or reinstatement of its existing license. Further, in such an event, City may engage another entity to operate the alcoholic beverage service at the affected Locations (a "Replacement Provider") and Concessionaire agrees to yield the occupancy of those portions of the Locations that the Director shall determine as necessary for the Replacement Provider to adequately provide alcoholic beverage service at the affected Locations; provided that Concessionaire shall continue to provide the Services in all other respects. In the event the loss or suspension of Concessionaire's license is the result of the negligence or willful misconduct of Concessionaire, Concessionaire shall pay to City an amount equal to the reasonably anticipated lost Gross Receipts relating to alcohol sales for each event during the occurrence of the Material License Impairment on which Concessionaire would have had an opportunity to sell any alcoholic beverage, which amount shall be reduced by (i) City's net receipts relating to the services of the Replacement Provider (accounting for the actual costs incurred by the City to obtain the Replacement Provider) and (ii) such other amount as the City may elect in its sole discretion (collectively, the "Liquidated Damages"). For avoidance of doubt, the "reasonably anticipated lost Gross Receipts" shall take into account historical events of a similar nature and attendance at the subject Facility on a per capita basis. In the event of a Material License Impairment, each of City and Concessionaire shall use commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate losses resulting from the same. If a Material License Impairment continues for a period of thirty (30) days or more, or if Concessionaire is finally advised by the applicable licensing authorities that it will not receive a reinstatement of its liquor license or a new liquor license for the affected Facilities, Concessionaire shall have the right (but not the obligation) to terminate this Agreement upon one hundred and eighty (180) days' notice to the City (such notice date being referred to herein as "Concessionaire's Termination Notice"). Further, each of the following shall constitute a default of this Agreement and shall provide the City the right to terminate this Agreement upon thirty (30) days prior written notice (such notice date being referred to herein as "City's Termination Notice"): (1) the suspension of a liquor

license or any other license necessary for the full performance of Concessionaire's obligations hereunder during a Contract Year (i) on three (3) separate occasions or (ii) for a total period in excess of thirty (30) days during the Contract Year, or (2) the loss of any such license. In the event that Concessionaire is liable for payment of Liquidated Damages pursuant to the terms herein, such liability shall in no event exceed Liquidated Damages calculated from the date of the Material License Impairment to the earlier of (y) the date one hundred and eighty (180) subsequent to the date of the Concessionaire's Termination Notice or City's Termination Notice, as applicable, and (z) the scheduled expiration date of the term of this Agreement (i.e. October 31, 2017).

- G. Liquor Sales City shall designate the type of activity at which liquor and/or beer and/or wine may be sold. The final decision as to when, where, if and which types of alcoholic beverages may be sold rests within the sole discretion of City to the extent permitted by applicable law. It is agreed and understood that there shall be no adjustment of the Minimum Guaranteed Payment to be paid by Concessionaire should City restrict or prohibit the sale of alcoholic beverages at events, such as, but not limited to, concerts, religious based activities, high school and college events. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that sale of alcoholic beverages is prohibited or restricted at a Facility as a result of a programmatic policy change or regulatory change by the City (including the AVD), and such change in policy or regulation results in a material decrease in alcohol sales from historical precedent, the parties agree to negotiate an equitable adjustment in the Minimum Guaranteed Payment in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner.
- H. Training and Operations Concessionaire shall provide the merchandise and personnel necessary to fully and adequately provide the Services under this Agreement. Concessionaire shall provide the number of points of sale that is adequate for each event and consistent with industry standards when and where possible. On premises management (which shall mean, a minimum of a general manager, concession manager and warehouse manager) and service personnel are required for a smooth and efficient operation while service and food preparation employees shall be available to receive deliveries, properly store same and begin or continue preparation of food and beverage to be sold or served in a timely manner. In addition, supervisory personnel shall be on duty during preparation, serving, sales and clean-up periods to ensure an adequate, pleasant and prompt operation. Concessionaire shall select, employ, train, furnish, and deploy in the optimum number (to match work requirements), in each work classification, employees who are proficient, productive, and courteous to patrons. Concessionaire shall conduct regularly scheduled training classes for all employees and management throughout the Term. This training schedule and its content shall be approved by the Director in writing and, at a minimum, shall include customer service training, positional skills training, banquet service training, buffet set up, bartending and serving techniques, food and wine service techniques, food handing, and other facility operations. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Concessionaire shall provide:
 - 1. Training to employees regarding Title I of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended, as it pertains to providing quality food, beverage and retail services under this Agreement to customers with a disability.

Concessionaire shall ensure that all employees are trained in accordance with Concessionaire's corporate standards.

2. An alcohol awareness training program for all alcohol service and monitoring staff sufficient to ensure an understanding of all requirements of serving alcoholic beverages pursuant to applicable laws, rules, regulations, and one or more professional courses in alcohol awareness (i.e. TIPS Training). The alcohol awareness and training program shall be provided to all new alcohol service and monitoring staff during their new employee orientation and to all other alcohol service and monitoring staff at least once per year.

A detailed record of all trainings required of and offered to staff shall be provided to the Director. Upon request from City, Concessionaire shall supply a copy to City of Concessionaire's operating procedures and manual, which include detailed staffing plans for a variety of event activities. Concessionaire shall adjust staffing levels if in the opinion of the Director the staffing levels do not provide adequate service to the general public.

- I. Uniforms and Appearance Concessionaire shall ensure that employees maintain a professional appearance while performing the duties associated with this Agreement. Concessionaire shall provide Director-approved uniforms for all staff working during events (except management personnel).
- J. City Approval of Personnel Director shall approve Concessionaire's personnel and reserves the right to request and have Concessionaire comply with personnel changes to the extent permitted by applicable law. If at any time, any personnel are unsatisfactory to Director, Concessionaire shall make a change in such personnel acceptable to Director within ten (10) days of written notice from Director. Director must give appropriate reasons for requesting the personnel change that do not discriminate against any individuals based on race, color, religion, national origin, gender, age, military status, sexual orientation, gender variance, marital status, or physical or mental disability. Personnel supplied by Concessionaire shall be employees of Concessionaire and shall not at any time or for any purpose be considered employees or agents of the City.
- **K. Sales Manager -** Concessionaire shall have available, upon reasonable notice, a qualified representative who shall, upon request of City, meet with City Venues users and prospective City Venues users and assist in explaining and planning food and beverage services as well as the marketing of the City Venues' food service facilities.
- L. Non-Exclusive Backstage Catering Backstage Catering is non-exclusive and non-commissionable (i.e. not included in Gross Sales) provided that Backstage Catering is provided at cost plus ten percent (10%). Notwithstanding the foregoing to the contrary, except for Backstage Catering events at Red Rocks Amphitheatre, Concessionaire shall exclusively provide alcoholic beverages for Backstage Catering events at cost plus 10%; Concessaionare shall not serve alcohol in, nor include in its liquor license, the backstage area at Red Rocks Amphitheatre. For purposes of clarity, the "cost" includes cost of product and any direct cost associated with the product (including direct labor and

delivery costs) and the "plus ten percent (10%)" is based upon the applicable costs and shall be applied as a credit to Cost of Sales herein.

- M. Novelties Negotiation City grants to Concessionaire the right to negotiate a split of Novelties receipts with the consignor of each exclusive event, except for those pre-existing events that have historically maintained their own Novelties' rights, Denver Cutthroat events, and events where it is common industry practice to permit on a limited basis the sales of particular concession items by a Tenant. The Concessionaire will negotiate for the most favorable return and City will support Concessionaire's efforts to secure a favorable split. City will retain the right of final decision if an impasse occurs. Sums received by Concessionaire as a result of such split with the consignor shall be included in Gross Receipts. Concessionaire and City acknowledge and agree certain shows are designed to have booths displaying merchandise for sale similar to a public show at a convention center, which examples include the National Western Stock Show, the March Pow Wow and The Super Sale, and for such shows or events, Concessionaire shall not have rights to sales from the booths at these events, but shall retain rights to sales of merchandise related to the event such as t-shirts and cd's, except when exempted under terms of this Agreement.
- N. Notice of Event Schedule City will give Concessionaire advance notice of the nature of scheduled events and such information, as is available, regarding the probable attendance at each event. City will notify Concessionaire of the cancellation of previously scheduled events of which due notice has been given City, but City shall not be liable to Concessionaire for failure to deliver notice of such cancellation. Concessionaire shall be held strictly accountable for furnishing full and adequate service for the full period of time required for any event for which it has received notice.
- O. Product Pricing Concessionaire's product offering and pricing shall be pre-approved by the Director during the term of this Agreement. At a minimum, Concessionaire will conduct an annual pricing survey of local and national venues, which survey shall be provided along with a pricing proposal for Director to review and approve. Concessionaire shall submit an initial pricing proposal to Director for review and approval prior to the commencement of this Agreement. Final decisions on all product offering and pricing rest solely with City.
- **P.** Wholesale Sales Concessionaire shall provide food and beverage services, when reasonably requested and approved in writing by Director, for the City's official business use, at cost plus ten percent (10%). For purposes of clarity, the "cost" includes cost of product and any direct cost associated with the product (including direct labor and delivery costs) and the "plus ten percent (10%)" is based upon the applicable costs and shall be applied as a credit to Cost of Sales herein.
- **Q. Smallwares** Smallwares necessary to the efficient operation of the Facilities shall be provided by the City and Concessionaire as set forth in **Exhibit F**.
- **R.** Additional Services City may require Concessionaire to supply, on a non-exclusive basis, housekeeping, box office, or other services at a predetermined rate per hour per

- employee, subject to Concessionaire's ability to provide such services. Payments by City for such services are not to be included in Gross Receipts.
- S. Sponsorship and Sampling Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed so as to prohibit a Tenant or Sponsor of the Facilities or an event from exhibiting any merchandise or article in connection with the same, or from dispensing free samples of merchandise. Such sampling is subject to the approval of the Director and shall be restricted to two-ounce portions of food items and four-ounce portions of beverages; provided that if alcoholic beverages are being sampled, such sampling shall be coordinated with and conducted by Concessionaire. Any such exhibiting or sampling shall be only with the approval of the Director, who shall use discretion in granting such approval, taking into account Concessionaire's rights and obligations; without limiting the foregoing, the City agrees to require Tenants and Sponsors that are granted rights to sample food and/or beverages at the Facilities, by agreements entered into after Concessionaire and the City have both executed this Agreement, to indemnify and hold harmless Concessionaire with respect to such serving and/or sampling of food and beverages to the same extent of the indemnification provided to the City. The City's obligation to require Tenants and Sponsors to indemnify and hold Concessionaire harmless shall apply only to those agreements entered into by the City after Concessionaire and the City have both executed this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (1) Concessionaire shall have no approval authority over the terms of the insurance, indemnification, and hold harmless agreements between the City and the Tenants and Sponsors and (2) nothing herein shall affect Concessionaire's obligations to maintain insurance and to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the City pursuant to the terms of this Agreement (it being understood and agreed by the parties hereto that such obligations of Concessionaire do not include coverage of or responsibility for any acts, omissions or services provided by Tenants or Sponsors).
- T. City Provided Equipment City owns and maintains the basic concession equipment listed in Exhibit F of this Agreement and permanently located at the City Venues specified in Exhibit F, which equipment (the "City-Provided Equipment") City will provide for Concessionaire's use without charge; provided, however, that the City-Provided Equipment shall remain the property of City. Concessionaire shall provide for the maintenance and repair of the City-Provided Equipment as required for the normal operations of Concessionaire; the cost and expense of such repair and maintenance treated as a Cost of Sales. Concessionaire shall not be responsible for replacing any such City-Provided Equipment unless Concessionaire's negligence or willful misconduct shall have been the cause necessitating such replacement (in such instance, the replacement cost shall not be deemed a Cost of Sales). Similarly, any maintenance and repair costs necessitated by Concessionaire's negligence or willful misconduct shall be at Concessionaire's sole cost and expense and not be deemed a Cost of Sales. The equipment may not be removed, relocated or discarded without written permission of the Director. If Concessionaire desires to locate or install additional equipment for use in the food/service areas of the Facilities, Concessionaire shall obtain the prior written approval of the same from the City.

- **U. City's Rights** City retains and reserves all rights, including advertising and sponsorships, at the Facilities not expressly conferred upon Concessionaire.
- **V. Services Description** The Services to be provided by Concessionaire pursuant to this Section 7 and Concessionaire's associated rights and obligations set forth in this Agreement are further described in **Exhibit G** attached hereto and incorporated herein.

8 Inspection and Testing by City

- **A. Operations Observations** City shall have the right to observe any transaction or transactions between Concessionaire and the public involving any sales authorized hereunder for the purposes of determining the quality and quantities of food, beverages and facilities offered to the public, the prices charged therefor and the accountability of the Gross Receipts received therefrom. City shall also have the right to make any and all examinations, tests, measurements, weighings, etc. as it may desire of all materials, food and supplies in Concessionaire's possession and to be sold by Concessionaire, in order to determine their quality and quantity.
- **B.** Facilities Inspections City shall have the right at any time and as often as the Director considers necessary to inspect the Locations and places of operation of Concessionaire and to advise Concessionaire of the existence of any conditions which the Director determines to be unsafe, unsanitary or detrimental to the public or the operation of the City Venues. Concessionaire agrees to correct all such conditions promptly after notice.

9 Right of Entry Reserved

City, through its agents and/or employees, representatives, and contractors, shall have the continual right to enter upon and under all portions of the Locations to inspect the same, to observe the performance of Concessionaire of its obligations under this Agreement, to conduct inspections and/or audits as indicated in Sections 6 and 8 hereof, and to install, remove, adjust, repair, replace or otherwise handle any equipment, utility lines, or other matters in, on, or about the premises, or to do any act or thing which City may be obligated or has the right to do under this Agreement or otherwise. Nothing contained in this Section is intended or shall be construed to limit any other rights of City under this Agreement.

No abatement of any payments by Concessionaire shall be claimed by or allowed to Concessionaire by reason of the exercise of any of the rights set forth in this Section; provided, however, that in the exercise of the foregoing rights, City shall not interfere in Concessionaire's business activities nor shall City assert any nonperformance by Concessionaire of its responsibilities hereunder as a result of the exercise by City of such rights.

Nothing in this Section shall impose or shall be construed to impose upon City any obligations to construct or maintain or make repairs, replacements, alterations, additions, or improvements or shall create any liability for any failure to do so.

City agrees that it will make ordinary inspections and undertake other non-emergency activities only at reasonable times, provided, however, that nothing in this Section shall be construed to limit or diminish City's right of entry at any time in an emergency, as determined by the Director.

10 Ingress and Egress

If Concessionaire shall comply with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, then Concessionaire shall have the right of ingress to and egress from the Locations provided for herein through such ways provided by City.

11 Permits and Licenses

Concessionaire shall procure any permits and licenses required and pay all charges and fees necessary for the business to be conducted by it hereunder; provided, however, that such charges and fees shall be included as Cost of Sales. Concessionaire shall deliver copies of all such permits or licenses to the Director.

12 Governmental Compliance

Concessionaire, its officers, agents, servants, employees, invitees, licensees, and any other persons over which Concessionaire has control or right of control shall comply with all present and future laws, ordinances, orders, directives, rules and regulations of the United States of America, State of Colorado, and the City and County of Denver and their respective agencies, departments, authorities, or commissions of the foregoing, applicable to or affecting directly or indirectly Concessionaire or its operations and activities on or in connection with the premises of the City Venues.

13 No Discrimination in Employment

In connection with the performance of work under this Agreement, Concessionaire may not refuse to hire, discharge, promote or demote, or discriminate in matters of compensation against any person otherwise qualified, solely because of race, color, religion, national origin, gender, age, military status, sexual orientation, gender variance, marital status, or physical or mental disability; and Concessionaire further agrees to insert the foregoing provision in all subcontracts hereunder

The Concessionaire shall develop a written policy statement to inform all employees, job applicants, service recipients, and applicants for services of the organization's commitment to ensuring equal opportunity. The policy statement shall be signed by the organization's executive officer and be consistent with corporate objectives of Concessionaire and the Director.

Concessionaire shall comply with all employment laws and practices and conduct its operations within the requirements of all federal, state and municipal jurisdictions having authority.

Additionally, Concessionaire agrees to make a reasonable attempt to hire from the greater Denver area.

14 Utilities

- **A.** City Supplied Utilities City shall furnish, at no cost for consumption, all electric, gas, heat, water, and drainage utilities necessary for the food service operations. Concessionaire shall make best efforts to practice prudent energy management satisfactory to the Director.
- **B.** Concessionaire Supplied Utilities The Concessionaire shall be responsible for providing only such utility lines and electrical service lines as are necessary for the delivery of the Services under this Agreement. Concessionaire is responsible for its telephone lines and service. The cost and expense incurred by Concessionaire under this Section 14.B shall be considered a Cost of Sales.
- C. Utility Maintenance Concessionaire shall be responsible for maintaining and repairing all utility lines and utility service equipment within Concessionaire's Locations as it pertains to Concessionaire's Locations; provided, however, that the cost and expense incurred by Concessionaire for the foregoing shall be considered a Cost of Sales, and provided further that City shall be responsible for the cost of maintaining and repairing those utility lines and utility service equipment found within the Locations occupied by Concessionaire to the extent any utility lines and utility service equipment for which City is responsible necessitate such maintenance and repair. For the purposes of this Section, the point at which responsibility shall pass from the City to Concessionaire is the point at which the utility service line enters into the wall of the Location.
- **D.** City Limited Liability Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, City shall not be liable or responsible for any failure to furnish utility services, whether occasioned by strike or other work stoppage; federal, state or local government action; breakdown or failure of apparatus, equipment or machinery employed in supplying the said services; any temporary stoppage for the repairs, improvements or enlargement thereof or any act or condition beyond its reasonable control. City shall not be responsible for any goods, products or equipment stored at the City Venues, nor will City be responsible for damage resulting from a power failure, flood, fire, explosion and/or other causes.
- **E.** Trash Services City is responsible for emptying of the trash compactor(s) and recycling compactor(s) and removal of trash and recycling materials from the building provided that Concessionaire must maintain and remove the trash and recycling materials from the Spaces or other areas designated by Director and place the same in locations designated by Director. Concessionaire will comply with all laws and City policies concerning recycling and environmental issues that are in effect during the term of this Agreement.

15 Repairs and Maintenance

- **A.** Concessionaire's Obligation Concessionaire is responsible for maintaining the Spaces in a clean and presentable condition as specified by Director.
- **B.** Signage Any signage used to display product information and pricing shall be maintained in good and working order. All signage must be preapproved prior to installation and shall not conflict with any sponsorship arrangement entered into by City and shall be expressly used to advertise a product for sale at the Location that the sign is being displayed.
- C. Locations and Equipment Concessionaire shall be responsible for keeping the Locations clean, safe, and in good working order and for the routine repair and maintenance of equipment (including City-Provided Equipment) used in the operation of the Services.
- **D.** Concessionaire's Repairs Concessionaire shall, prior to making any routine repairs at the Locations, other than repairs to its own equipment, or emergency repairs, consult with the Director to determine whether City wishes to make the repairs with its own personnel and charge Concessionaire its standard rates for such service including such overhead charges as shall be determined from time to time by the Director. In the event City elects not to make repairs, Concessionaire shall, proceed to do so; provided, however, it will not take any action or refrain from any action which will cause any labor problem which will affect City directly as a result of the action of Concessionaire, its employees, agents or contractors. All work done by Concessionaire, or on its account, shall be of first class quality in both materials and workmanship. All routine repairs and maintenance will be made in conformity with the laws and rules and regulations prescribed from time to time by any Federal, State or municipal authority having jurisdiction over the location of the work.
- **E. Reparations** In the event that Concessionaire refuses or neglects to make the routine repairs and maintenance specified in this Section 15, to the extent Concessionaire is obligated to do so under this Agreement and after receipt of written notice by City to Concessionaire regarding the same, or if City is required to make any repairs necessitated by the negligent acts or omissions of Concessionaire, its employees, agents, servants, or licensees, City shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to make such repairs on behalf of or for the account of Concessionaire. In the event that City shall make such repairs, such work shall be paid for by Concessionaire upon receipt of a statement therefor in the amount of City's cost plus an amount for overhead as shall be determined from time to time by the Director.
- **F.** Cost and Expense Except as otherwise provided in Section 15.F, the cost and expense incurred by Concessionaire under Sections 15.A, B, and C shall be considered a Cost of Sales except to the extent that any such routine repairs or maintenance are necessitated by the negligence or willful misconduct of Concessionaire in which event such cost and expense shall be borne by Concessionaire and shall not be considered a Cost of Sales. In addition, in the event damage to the Facilities or equipment outside of the Locations occurs as a result of Concessionaire's negligence or willful misconduct in its operations, the cost and expense for such repairs shall be borne by Concessionaire and shall not be

considered a Cost of Sales. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the obligation to pay for, and authority to perform, direct, and supervise capital repairs, improvements, and replacements shall remain with the City and the cost and expense for the same will not be considered Cost of Sales.

G. Repair and Maintenance Fund. Concessionaire and City are parties to that certain Concession Agreement, dated May 1, 2003, under which Concessionaire provided food, beverage, retail, catering, and concession services at Red Rocks Amphitheatre ("Previous Agreement"). Under said agreement, an equipment replacement and enhancement fund (the "Reserve Fund") was established and funded by Concessionaire at the rate of one and one-half percent (1.5%) of gross receipts as defined in the Previous Agreement. Concessionaire and City agree to determine the amount of funds remaining in the Reserve Fund as of the commencement date of this Agreement(the "Remaining Reserve Fund"). The parties agree that (i) the Remaining Reserve Funds shall be utilized pursuant to this Agreement for the purposes set forth the Previous Agreement and under the terms described therein and (ii) in no event shall any use of Remaining Reserve Funds be deemed a Cost of Sales under this Agreement.

16 Alterations and Repairs by Concessionaire

- **A. Conditions of Alterations and Repairs** Concessionaire may alter, modify, or make non-routine repairs to or installations at the Locations or install any fixtures therein, including signage and graphics, only with the prior written permission of the Director. In the event Concessionaire is required or permitted by the Director to make alterations, non-routine repairs, modifications, or installations at or to the Locations, such work shall be built or made strictly in accordance with the following terms and conditions, and no such work or contracts or subcontracts for the same shall be entered until Concessionaire has established to the Director's reasonable satisfaction that the following terms and conditions have been fully and appropriately satisfied.
 - 1. Before the commencement of such work, (i) conceptual/schematic, preliminary and final detailed plans (which shall include samples of colors and materials), and specifications shall be filed with and approved by the Director and all governmental departments or authorities having jurisdiction or design review thereover, (ii) all such work shall be done subject to and in accordance with the requirements of law and applicable regulations of all such governmental departments and authorities and, when required, each affected public utility company, and (iii) all work shall be fully coordinated with scheduled City Venues' events and with the construction, remodeling, repair and other work being performed by others at the City Venues.
 - 2. Before the commencement of such work, Concessionaire shall obtain, and provide to the City Attorney for approval, payment and performance bonds to the extent required by and in accordance with the laws of the State of Colorado, the City Charter and ordinances of the City and County of Denver.

- 3. Concessionaire shall pay and ensure that its construction contractors and subcontractors pay any and all prevailing wage rates to laborers and workmen, as set forth in sections 20-76 through 20-79 of the Denver Revised Municipal Code ("DRMC"), as the same may be amended or recodified from time to time..
- 4. Concessionaire shall obtain insurance as required by the City's Office of Risk Management, and provide evidence thereof to the City Attorney, against all liabilities and claims potentially arising out of or related to the work contemplated by this Section 16. The City's Risk Management Office shall be notified of all such work prior to commencement of the work and, upon receipt of notice thereof, will require appropriate insurance of the Concessionaire and/or Concessionaire's subcontractors. Insurance requirements may include, without limitation, Builders' Risk and an Installation Floater covering the property and equipment, with the City and County of Denver listed as an Additional Insured, and professional insurance covering all engineering and architectural work. Per Section 18.B.1, all subcontractors and subconsultants are required to procure and maintain the same coverages required of the Concessionaire, as applicable to the scope of work. All coverages related to the subject work shall be kept in full force at all times during the work, warranty period, and for eight (8) years after termination of this Agreement. Evidence of coverage must be submitted to the City Attorney before commencement of such work. Neither the obligation to obtain such insurance nor the obtaining of such insurance shall relieve or lessen Concessionaire's indemnification of City, except to the extent of payment under policies of such insurance.
- 5. Such work shall be performed in compliance with the provisions for small business enterprise, equal employment opportunity, and minority and women business enterprise participation that are contained in sections 28-31 through 28-90, DRMC, as the same may be amended or recodified from time to time.
- 6. Such work shall be performed in a first class workmanlike manner and in accordance with the plans and specifications approved for the same and by contractors satisfactory to the Director. Concessionaire shall redo or replace, at its sole cost and expense, prior to or after completion of such work, any work as determined by the Director which is not done in accordance with such plans and specifications as approved by the Director.
- 7. Concessionaire shall, at its sole cost and expense, submit to the Director as soon as practicable following final completion of such work as described hereinabove, the following in separate submissions for each Location and for each category of investment: (i) written notice of completion indicating the effective date of completion of said work; (ii) an itemized statement of the costs incurred by Concessionaire for such work with invoices attached and showing a breakdown of costs in fixed or movable improvements and/or equipment; (iii) one set of as built plans showing the improvements as constructed; and; (iv) a schedule of equipment listing serial numbers and location of each item.

- 8. Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Director, no fixtures, equipment or other personal property shall be purchased, leased, hired under any purchase agreement, bailment lease, conditional sale or other agreement unless such lease, conditional sale or other agreement provides for a waiver of exemption of distraint or other proceeding which may be available to City against such fixtures, equipment, or other personal property.
- 9. The risk of loss or damage to all such required or permitted repairs, alterations, modifications or installations prior to completion thereof shall be upon Concessionaire and Concessionaire shall, at its own cost and expense, replace and repair any and all such damage in accordance with the provisions of this Section

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 16, Concessionaire may not undertake the construction, reconstruction, or remodeling of general public improvements. Furthermore, City shall retain the discretion to determine whether and to what level to fund the work contemplated by this Section 16.

- **B.** Concessionaire's Property All moveable equipment and furnishings purchased by Concessionaire shall remain the property of Concessionaire.
- C. Lien Waivers Concessionaire shall cause each contractor with whom it contracts for construction of fixed improvements to execute and file with the Director, a waiver of the right to file a mechanics' lien which shall be effective against claims by contractor and all subcontractors, materialsmen and workmen arising out of any work done by Concessionaire or by Concessionaire's contractors. Concessionaire will indemnify, hold harmless and defend City from any and all claims, liens or charges of any nature whatsoever relating to defects in the work done by Concessionaire or its contractors.
- **D. Landlord's Lien -** It is understood and agreed that, notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, City shall at all times have the right to assert a landlord's lien on any and all property of Concessionaire or any other person or entity, in or around the Facilities.
- E. Cost and Expenses. In the event Concessionaire is required or permitted by the Director to alter, modify, or make non-routine repairs at or to the Locations as provided in this Section 16, the cost and expenses incurred by Concessionaire therefor shall not be considered a Cost of Sales but shall remain fully reimbursable by City to Concessionaire upon provision to City of an invoice in format and with a level of detail reasonably acceptable to City and including reasonable supporting documentation as may be requested by City. Payment by the City for such work shall be subject to Section 4.H of this Agreement and the City's Prompt Payment Ordinance.

17 Damage to or Destruction of Premises

Concessionaire shall, at its own cost and expense (which shall not be treated as a Cost of Sales), replace and repair any and all damage or destruction to the Locations which is the result of Concessionaire's negligence or willful misconduct, such replacement and repair to be performed in accordance with the provisions of Section 16, hereof; provided, however, that said duty to replace and repair shall not apply to the extent of damage caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of employees of City.

18 Insurance, Liability and Bonds

A. Performance Bond - Concessionaire shall provide upon execution of this Agreement and keep in effect during the term of the Agreement, a performance bond with corporate surety in the amount of One Million (\$1,000,000) dollars, guaranteeing the faithful performance of all conditions contained herein. The form and content of the bond as well as the identity of the surety are subject to the approval of City. In lieu of a bond, City may, in its sole discretion, accept as security an irrevocable letter of credit in a form and with a bank satisfactory to City.

B. Insurance Requirements

- 1. General Conditions: Concessionaire agrees to secure, at or before the time of execution of this Agreement, the following insurance covering all operations, goods or services provided pursuant to this Agreement. Concessionaire shall keep the required insurance coverage in force at all times during the term of the Agreement, or any extension thereof, during any warranty period, and for three (3) years after termination of the Agreement. The required insurance shall be underwritten by an insurer licensed or authorized to do business in Colorado and rated by A.M. Best Company as "A-"VIII or better. Notice of cancellation of any insurance policies required herein shall be subject to ACORD Certificate of Liability standards and will be delivered, as applicable, with policy provisions. Additionally, Concessionaire shall provide written notice of cancellation, nonrenewal and any reduction in coverage to the parties identified in Section 34 by certified mail, return receipt requested within three (3) business days of such notice by its insurer(s) and referencing the City's contract number. If any policy is in excess of a deductible or self-insured retention, the City must be notified by the Concessionaire. Concessionaire shall be responsible for the payment of any deductible or self-insured retention. The insurance coverages specified in this Agreement are the minimum requirements, and these requirements do not lessen or limit the liability of the Concessionaire. The Concessionaire shall maintain, at its own expense, any additional kinds or amounts of insurance that it may deem necessary to cover its obligations and liabilities under this Agreement.
- 2. Proof of Insurance: Concessionaire may not commence services or work relating to the Agreement prior to placement of coverage. Concessionaire certifies that the certificate of insurance attached as **Exhibit H**, preferably an ACORD certificate, complies with all insurance requirements of this Agreement. The City requests that the City's contract number be referenced on the Certificate. The City's

acceptance of a certificate of insurance or other proof of insurance that does not comply with all insurance requirements set forth in this Agreement shall not act as a waiver of Concessionaire's breach of this Agreement or of any of the City's rights or remedies under this Agreement. The City's Risk Management Office may require additional proof of insurance, including proof of endorsements. In addition, in the event a claim results in a dispute over coverage under a policy required by this Agreement, Concessionaire shall provide the City with a copy of the relevant provisions of the subject policy. Concessionaire understands that all material provided or produced under this Agreement may be subject to the Colorado Open Records Act, § 24-72-201, et seq., C.R.S. (2006); however, in the event of a request to the City for disclosure of such information, the City shall advise Concessionaire of such request in order to give Concessionaire the opportunity to object to the disclosure of any of its proprietary or confidential material. In the event of the filing of a lawsuit to compel such disclosure, the City will tender all such material to the court for judicial determination of the issue of disclosure and Concessionaire agrees to intervene in such lawsuit to protect and assert its claims of privilege and against disclosure of such material or waive the same. Concessionaire further agrees to defend, indemnify and save and hold harmless the City, its officers, agents and employees, from any claims, damages, expenses, losses or costs arising out of Concessionaire's intervention to protect and assert its claim of privilege against disclosure under this Section 18.B.2.

- 3. Additional Insureds: For Commercial General Liability and Auto Liability, Concessionaire and subcontractors' insurer(s) shall name the City and County of Denver, its elected and appointed officials, employees and volunteers as additional insured.
- 4. Waiver of Subrogation: For all coverages, Concessionaire's insurer shall waive subrogation rights against the City.
- 5. Subcontractors and Subconsultants: All subcontractors and subconsultants (including independent contractors, suppliers or other entities providing goods or services required by this Agreement) shall be subject to all of the requirements herein. Concessionaire shall require all of its subcontractors and subconsultants to provide insurance coverage in types and amounts required by the Concessionaire, but in amounts of at least \$1,000,000 Commercial General Liability, Business Auto insurance of \$1,000,000 combined single limit, statutory Workers' Compensation coverage and \$1,000,000 professional liability for any sobcontractor performing design or engineering work. Concessionaire shall include all such subcontractors and subconsultants as additional insured under its policies (with the exception of Workers' Compensation) or shall ensure that all such subcontractors and subconsultants maintain the required coverages. Concessionaire agrees to provide proof of insurance for all such subcontractors and subconsultants upon request by the City.
- 6. Workers' Compensation/Employer's Liability Insurance: Concessionaire shall maintain the coverage as required by statute for each work location and shall

maintain Employer's Liability insurance with limits of \$100,000 per occurrence for each bodily injury claim, \$100,000 per occurrence for each bodily injury caused by disease claim, and \$500,000 aggregate for all bodily injuries caused by disease claims. Concessionaire expressly represents to the City, as a material representation upon which the City is relying in entering into this Agreement, that none of the Concessionaire's officers or employees who may be eligible under any statute or law to reject Workers' Compensation Insurance shall effect such rejection during any part of the term of this Agreement, and that any such rejections previously effected, have been revoked as of the date Concessionaire executes this Agreement.

- 7. Commercial General Liability: Concessionaire shall maintain a Commercial General Liability insurance policy with limits of \$1,000,000 for each occurrence, \$1,000,000 for each personal and advertising injury claim, \$2,000,000 products and completed operations aggregate, and \$2,000,000 policy aggregate.
- 8. Liquor Legal Liability: Concessionaire shall maintain limits of \$1,000,000 per claim and \$1,000,000 policy aggregate limit, which coverage may be provided pursuant to the Commercial General Liability insurance policy described above provided that a limit of \$1,000,000 specific to liquor liability is included in said policy.
- 9. Business Automobile Liability: Concessionaire shall maintain Business Automobile Liability with limits of \$1,000,000 combined single limit applicable to all owned, hired and non-owned vehicles used in performing services under this Agreement
- 10. Property Insurance: Concessionaire shall maintain All Risk/Special Cause of Loss Form Property Insurance on a replacement basis including coverage for tenant improvements, betterments and contents.

11. Additional Provisions:

- (a) For Commercial General Liability, the policies must provide the following:
 - (i) That this Agreement is an Insured Contract under the policy;
 - (ii) Defense costs are in excess of policy limits:
 - (iii) A severability of interests or separation of insureds provision (no insured vs. insured exclusion); and
 - (iv) A provision that coverage is primary with other coverage or self-insurance maintained by the City.
- (b) For claims-made coverage:

- (i) The retroactive date must be on or before the contract date or the first date when any goods or services were provided to the City, whichever is earlier
- (c) Concessionaire shall advise the City in the event any general aggregate or other aggregate limits are reduced below the required per occurrence limits. At their own expense, and where such general aggregate or other aggregate limits have been reduced below the required per occurrence limit, the Concessionaire will procure such per occurrence limits and furnish a new certificate of insurance showing such coverage is in force.
- (d) Any insurance coverage (additional insured or otherwise) that Concessionaire provides for the City shall only cover insured liability assumed by Concessionaire by this Agreement; such insurance coverage shall not otherwise cover liability in connection with or arising out of the negligent acts or willful misconduct of the City.
- C. Indemnification Concessionaire shall indemnify and hold harmless and defend City, its officers, agents and employees from any and all claims, liability or loss of any nature whatsoever arising out of or relating to the Concessionaire's occupancy of the premises and operation of the Services. This indemnity shall be interpreted to indemnify City for any acts or omissions of Concessionaire, its agents, employees, contractors, invitees, or licensees, whether passive or active, irrespective of fault, including City's concurrent negligence, whether active or passive; provided however, that the Concessionaire shall not be required to indemnify or save harmless the City, its officers, agents and employees, from liability or damages to the extent arising from the negligence or willful misconduct of the City's officers, agents and employees. Defense costs coverage must be included in the liability coverage provided for the City and County of Denver, its officers, officials and employees as additional insureds.

19 Termination by City

- **A. Grounds for Termination** If any one or more of the following shall occur, then, City may at its option terminate this Agreement by sending written notice of termination, by registered or certified mail, to Concessionaire at its address set forth herein, which notice shall be deemed given when received.
 - 1. Concessionaire shall become insolvent, or shall take the benefit of any present or future insolvency statute; or shall make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or file a voluntary petition in bankruptcy or a petition or answer seeking an arrangement or its reorganization or the readjustment of its indebtedness under the federal bankruptcy laws or under any other law or statute of the United States or of any State thereof, or consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, or liquidator of all or substantially all of its property; or

- 2. By order or decree of the court Concessionaire shall be adjudged bankrupt or an order shall be made approving a petition filed by any of its creditors or by any of its stockholders, seeking its reorganization or the readjustment of its indebtedness under the federal bankruptcy laws or under any law or statute of the United States or any State thereof; or
- 3. A petition under any part of the federal bankruptcy laws or an action under any present or future insolvency law or statute shall be filed against Concessionaire and shall not be dismissed or stayed within thirty (30) calendar days after the filing thereof; or
- 4. By or pursuant to, or under authority of any legislative act, resolution or rule, or any order or decree of any court of governmental board, agency or officer, a receiver, trustee, or liquidator shall take possession or control of all or substantially all of the property of Concessionaire and such possession or control shall continue in effect for a period of thirty (30) calendar days; or
- 5. Concessionaire shall become a corporation in dissolution; or
- 6. Interests of or rights of Concessionaire hereunder shall be transferred to, passed to, or devolve upon, by operation of law or otherwise, any other person, firm, corporation, or other entity, by, in connection with or as a result of any bankruptcy, insolvency, trusteeship, liquidation, or other preceding or occurrence described in Subsection 1, 2, 3, 4, or 5 of this Section; or
- 7. Concessionaire shall voluntarily discontinue its operation at the City Venues; or
- 8. Any lien is filed against the Facilities or any portion thereof because of any act or omission of Concessionaire and is not discharged within twenty (20) calendar days, unless Concessionaire shall within the aforesaid twenty (20) calendar days furnish to City such bond as the Director in his/her discretion determines to be adequate to protect the interests of City; or
- 9. City shall determine in its sole and absolute discretion that the City Venues shall be closed, abandoned, or razed; or
- 10. Concessionaire loses its liquor license.
- **B.** If Concessionaire is a privately owned corporation, and any of the events enumerated in Subsection 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 or 6 of this Section 19.A. occur with respect to the principle shareholder or his or her estate, then upon the occurrence of any such event or at any time thereafter during the continuance thereof, City may, at its option terminate this Agreement by sending written notice of termination, by registered or certified mail, to Concessionaire at its address set forth herein, which notice shall be deemed given when mailed.

- C. If Concessionaire shall become a successor or merged corporation in a merger, or a constituent corporation in a consolidation, then such merger or consolidation shall not be grounds for termination of the Agreement and of Concessionaire's rights hereunder if the successor corporation shall have and shall acknowledge in writing to the Director that it has assumed all of the obligations of Concessionaire under this Agreement, and shall provide written notice to the parties set forth in Section 34 of this Agreement. If the successor corporation shall not have, or shall fail to give written acknowledgment to the Director that it has assumed all of the obligations of Concessionaire, then City may, at its sole option, terminate this Agreement by sending written notice of the termination, by registered or certified mail, to Concessionaire at its address set forth herein, which notice shall be deemed given when mailed.
- **D.** In the event Concessionaire shall fail to perform or, improperly performs any of its obligations hereunder ("Non-performance"), then City shall have the right to provide Concessionaire with a notice of default which shall set forth specifically the Nonperformance. Concessionaire shall have thirty (30) calendar days from the date of receipt of such notice, except as provided below, within which to correct the Non-performance. Should Concessionaire cure the Non-performance within the thirty (30) calendar day period, it shall notify City in writing of such cure. In the event the Non-performance is not cured within such thirty (30) calendar day period, City may then terminate this Agreement by giving Concessionaire fifteen (15) calendar days' written notice of its decision to do so which notice shall specify the exact date of termination. termination notice shall not extend further the cure period afforded to Concessionaire. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Non-performance cannot be cured through the exercise of reasonable diligence within the thirty (30) day period, then such thirty (30) day period shall be extended to a time as is reasonable to cure the Non-performance, provided Concessionaire has proceeded and is continuing to proceed in a diligent and reasonable manner to cure. Concessionaire shall, if the Non-performance cannot be cured within the thirty (30) day time period through the exercise of reasonable diligence so advise City in writing and also provide its best estimate of when such Nonperformance will be cured and shall further advise City of such cure when accomplished. The foregoing period to cure shall not apply if Concessionaire fails to timely pay the Minimum Guaranteed Payment for any Accounting Period or any other payment owed to City ("Payment Non-performance"); the cure period for Payment Non-Performance shall be five (5) calendar days following receipt of notice of such Payment Nonperformance. Notwithstanding the foregoing thirty (30) day and five (5) day cure periods set forth above, Concessionaire agrees that it will cure defaults as promptly as commercially practicable and Concessionaire will not take the full cure period to cure defaults if such defaults can be cured in a shorter period.
- **E. Right of Re-entry** City shall, as an additional remedy upon the giving of notice of termination, have the right to re-enter the Locations upon the effective date of termination without further notice of any kind, and may regain and resume possession either with or without the institution of summary or any other legal proceedings or otherwise. Such reentry, or regaining or resumption of possession, however, shall not in any manner affect, alter or diminish any of the obligations of Concessionaire under this Agreement, and shall in no event constitute an acceptance of surrender.

20 Non-Waiver by City

A failure by City to take any action with respect to any default or violation by Concessionaire of any of the terms, covenants, or conditions of this Agreement shall not in any respect limit, prejudice, diminish, or constitute a waiver of any rights of City to act with respect to any prior, contemporaneous, or subsequent violation or default or with respect to any continuation or repetition of the original violation or default. The acceptance by City of payment for any period or periods after a default or violation of any of the terms, conditions, and covenants of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver or diminution of, nor create any limitation upon any right of City pursuant to this Agreement to terminate this Agreement for such violation or default or for continuation or repetition of the original violation or default.

21 Agreement Not Assignable

This Agreement shall not be assigned, transferred, sublet or otherwise disposed of by either party hereto without the express written approval of the other party, provided no such approval shall be required in the event of an assignment by Concessionaire to an affiliate of Concessionaire controlled by, or under common control with, Concessionaire. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any assignment by Concessionaire to an affiliate of Concessionaire that is controlled by, or under common control with, Concessionaire shall not be effective until written notice of such assignment is received by City and the City Attorney in accordance with Section 34 below. In addition, no assignment by Concessionaire shall release Concessionaire of its obligations hereunder unless expressly released in writing by City.

22 Concessionaire Independent Contractor

It is understood and agreed that nothing herein contained is intended or shall be construed to in any way create or establish the relationship of co-partners between City and Concessionaire or as constituting Concessionaire, as a representative or agent of City for any purpose whatsoever.

23 Surrender of Premises

Concessionaire covenants and agrees to yield and deliver peaceably to City possession of the Locations occupied herein and alteration, additions, or improvements thereof upon the termination or expiration of this Agreement promptly and in good condition, order and repair, except for reasonable wear and tear from the last necessary repair, replacement, restoration or renewal of such locations made by Concessionaire pursuant to Concessionaire's obligations under this Agreement.

If Concessionaire fails or neglects to remove all or any portion of its movable furniture, movable personal property and/or removable trade fixtures within thirty (30) calendar days after the termination or expiration of this Agreement or expiration of any renewal thereof, such items shall, at the sole option of City, become the property of City and if such option is exercised by City, Concessionaire shall have no further or equitable right, title or interest therein.

24 No Personal Liability

No elected official, director, officer, agent or employee of City nor any director, officer, or employee of Concessionaire, shall be charged personally or held contractually liable by or to the other party under any term or provision of this Agreement or because of any breach thereof or because of its or their execution, approval or attempted execution of this Agreement.

25 Representations, Warranties, Damages

No representations or warranties, whether oral or written, express or implied, made prior to the execution of this Agreement shall be part of this Agreement. Except as may otherwise be expressly provided in Sections 7.G and 41 of this Agreement, the City agrees to waive Concessionaire's liability for all damages arising out of Concessionaire's breach of this Agreement and/or early termination of this Agreement, including, consequential, punitive, and incidental damages, except for and provided that Concessionaire shall be liable for: (i) any failure to pay any sum due and payable under the express terms of this Agreement, (ii) the City's loss of actual net revenues during such time periods that Concssionaire fails to provide the Services under this Agreement through and until a replacement provider for all the Services is obtained by the City, and (iii) the actual costs incurred by the City to obtain a replacement provider for all the Services under this Agreement. Under no circumstances whatsoever shall the City be liable to Concessionaire for any punitive, incidental or consequential damages (except for any failure to pay any sum due and payable under the express terms of this Agreement), arising out of this Agreement or any other transaction(s) between the parties hereto. Each party shall use commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate losses resulting from a breach or early termination of this Agreement.

[CITY LITIGATION DEPARTMENT TO CONFIRM ACCEPTANCE OF THIS LANGAUGE]

26 Operating Standards

All of Concessionaire's activities hereunder shall be subject to the policies and standards of City, as the same may be amended from time to time by the City.

27 Conflict of Interest by City Officer

Concessionaire represents that to the best of its information and belief that no elected official or employee of City is either directly or indirectly a party to or in any manner interested in this Agreement except as such interest may arise as a result of the lawful discharge of the responsibilities of such elected official or employee.

28 Force Majeure

A. Subject to Section 28.E., neither party hereto shall be liable to the other for any failure, delay, or interruption in performing its obligations hereunder due to causes or conditions

beyond its control, including without limitation acts of God; provided, that nothing in this Section is intended or shall be construed to abate, postpone, or in any respect diminish Concessionaire's obligations to make any payments due to City pursuant to this Agreement.

- **B.** Neither party hereto shall be under any obligation to supply any service or services if and to the extent and during any period that the supplying of any such service or services or the use of any component necessary therefore shall be prohibited by any Federal, State, County or municipal law, rule, regulation, order or directive.
- C. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, no abatement, diminution or reduction of the Minimum Guaranteed Payment or other payments or charges payable by Concessionaire shall be claimed by or allowed to Concessionaire for any inconvenience, interruption, cessation, or loss of business or other loss caused, directly or indirectly, by any present or future laws, rules, requirements, orders, directives, ordinances or regulations of the United States of America, or of the State, or City, or any other lawful authority whatsoever, or by priorities, rationing, or curtailment of labor or materials, or by war or any matter or thing resulting therefrom, or by any other cause or causes beyond the control of City, nor shall this Agreement be affected by any such causes.
- **D.** In the event of the destruction of a City Venue by reason of fire, storm or other casualty or occurrence of any nature, Concessionaire may suspend services to be performed under this Agreement with respect to such City Venue or terminate this Agreement with respect to such City Venue. In the event Concessionaire elects not to terminate this Agreement, Concessionaire may suspend its service with respect to such City Venue until such time, not to exceed twelve (12) months, as City shall have substantially completed the reconstruction of the City Venue.
- E. Concessionaire may suspend services to be performed under this Agreement or terminate this Agreement with respect to a City Venue in the event any act or occurrence, including without limiting the generality of the foregoing, acts of God or other occurrences beyond Concessionaire's control, which act or occurrence is of such effect and duration as to effectively curtail the use of the subject City Venue for its intended purposes so as to effect a substantial reduction in the need for the services provided by Concessionaire for a period in excess of ninety (90) calendar days; provided, however, for the purposes of this Section 28.E., Concessionaire shall have the right terminate this Agreement with respect to the subject City Venue on a retroactive basis effective as of the date the use of the subject City Venue was effectively curtailed.

29 Patents, Trademarks and Copyrighted Products

If Concessionaire requires the use of or desires to use any patented design, device, material, process, mark, copyright, trademark, name, slogan, or other legally protected property right, or to sell, vend or distribute any item or product which is subject to a copyright, patent, trademark, license, or other form of legal protection, it shall provide for such use, sale or distribution in an approved legal manner by making a proper agreement with the patentee, owner or lessee or such

design, device, material, process, mark, copyright, trademark, name, slogan, or other legally protected property right, for such use. Concessionaire shall protect, defend and save harmless City, its officers, agents, and employees, against any and all claims for damages or otherwise by reason of infringement of such design, device, material, process, mark, copyright, trademark, name, slogan, or other legally protected property right, and shall indemnify City, its officers, agents, and employees for any loss it or they may sustain due to such infringement. Concessionaire shall not sell, vend or distribute items or products deceptively similar to those subject to copyright, patent, trademark, or license to avoid payment of appropriate royalties or fees.

30 No Liability for Water Damage

City shall not be liable to Concessionaire for any damage to property of Concessionaire at any time due to water, rain, snow, or any other substance which may leak into, issue, or flow from any part of the City Venues or from the pipes or plumbing works of same or from any other place.

31 *Interpretation*

- **A.** In General It is the intention of the parties hereto that the language hereof, and in all parts of this Agreement shall be in all cases construed simply according to their fair meaning and not strictly for or against either City or Concessionaire.
- **B.** Law Governing Interpretation Concessionaire and City agree that any litigation filed by either as a result of any breach of contract or other matter arising out of this Agreement shall be filed exclusively in the Denver District State Court or in the United States District Court for the District of Colorado and that the interpretation of this Agreement shall be in all respects governed by the laws of the State of Colorado, without regard to any statute or rule of law purporting to provide for a different choice of law.
- C. Section and Paragraph Headings The Section and/or Paragraph headings herein and through this Agreement are for the convenience of City and Concessionaire in reference only, and are not intended and shall not be used to construe the intent of this Agreement or any part thereof, or to modify, amplify, or aid in the interpretation or construction of the provisions thereof.
- **D.** Gender and Number The use of any gender herein shall include any or all genders, and use of any number shall be construed as the singular and/or the plural, all as the context may require.

32 Severability

City and Concessionaire agree that, except for the provisions of this Agreement requiring appropriation of funds and limiting the total amount payable by the City, if any section or provision of this Agreement, or any portion of any Section or provision, shall for any reason be

held to be void, illegal or otherwise enforceable, all other portions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect.

33 Quiet Enjoyment

Except for such rights and acts of City authorized by this Agreement, City covenants that Concessionaire, upon paying all payments, fees, and other charges due hereunder and performing and complying with all covenants, agreements, provisions, obligations and duties incumbent upon Concessionaire under this Agreement, shall and may peaceably have, hold and enjoy the Locations in the manner described herein during the term of this Agreement. In the event that City shall in any manner convey the premises or assign this Agreement, with the consent of Concessionaire, or if the operations of the City Venues shall pass from City by operation of law or otherwise, then City shall have no personal obligation to Concessionaire with respect to the foregoing covenant after such conveyance, assignment, or passing.

34 Notices

A. Notices to City - All notices required to be given by Concessionaire to City pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and sent by overnight, registered or certified mail, to:

Mayor of the City of Denver Room 350, City and County Building Denver, Colorado 80202-5375

And:

Director, Arts & Venues Denver Division 1245 Champa Street, First Floor Denver, Colorado 80204

With copies to:

City Attorney
City and County of Denver
Room 353, City and County Building
Denver, Colorado 80202-5375

or to such other place as City may from time to time designate in writing.

B. Notices to Concessionaire -

Except as otherwise provided in this Section with regard to day to day operational and management matters, all notices required to be given by City to Concessionaire pursuant to this Agreement shall be directed in writing and sent by overnight, registered or certified mail to:

ARAMARK Sports and Entertainment Services, LLC ARAMARK Tower

1101 Market Street
Philadelphia, PA 19107
Attn: President – Sports and
Entertainment

with a required copy to:

ARAMARK Sports and Entertainment Services, LLC
ARAMARK Tower
1101 Market Street
Philadelphia, PA 19107
Attn: Vice President and Associate
General Counsel – Sports and
Entertainment

or to such other place as Concessionaire may from time to time designate in writing. Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice provided by the City to Concessionaire at the following address shall be sufficient for matters involving day to day operational and management issues (including by way of example, the matters and notice addressed in Sections 4.G, 6.D, 7.K, 7.L, 7.O, 8.B, and 15.E):

ARAMARK Sports and Entertainment Services, LLC 6595 South Dayton, Suite 2200 Greenwood Village, CO 80111 Attn: Regional Director – Central Region

35. No Employment of Illegal Aliens to Perform Work Under the Agreement

- **A.** The Agreement is subject to Division 5 of Article IV of Chapter 20 of the Denver Revised Municipal Code, as may be amended hereafter (the "Certification Ordinance") and Concessionaire is liable for any violations as provided in the Certification Ordinance.
- **B.** Concessionaire certifies that:
- 1. At the time of its execution of this Agreement, it does not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal alien who will perform work under this Agreement.
- 2. It will participate in the E-Verify Program, as defined in § 8-17.5-101(3.7), C.R.S., to confirm the employment eligibility of all employees who are newly hired for employment to perform work under this Agreement.
 - **C.** Concessionaire also agrees and represents that:

- 1. It shall not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal alien to perform work under the Agreement.
- 2. It shall not enter into a contract with a subconsultant or subcontractor that fails to certify to Concessionaire that it shall not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal alien to perform work under the Agreement.
- 3. It has confirmed the employment eligibility of all employees who are newly hired for employment to perform work under this Agreement, through participation in the E-Verify Program.
- 4. It is prohibited from using the E-Verify Program procedures to undertake preemployment screening of job applicants while performing its obligations under the Agreement, and it is required to comply with any and all federal requirements related to use of the E-Verify Program including, by way of example, all programs requirements related to employee notification and preservation of employee rights.
- 5. If it obtains actual knowledge that a subconsultant or subcontractor performing work under the Agreement knowingly employs or contracts with an illegal alien, it will notify such subconsultant or subcontractor and the City within three (3) days. Concessionaire will also then terminate such subconsultant or subcontractor if within three (3) days after such notice the subconsultant or subcontractor does not stop employing or contracting with the illegal alien, unless during such three-day period the subconsultant or subcontractor provides information to establish that the subconsultant or subcontractor has not knowingly employed or contracted with an illegal alien.
- 6. It will comply with any reasonable request made in the course of an investigation by the Colorado Department of Labor and Employment under authority of § 8-17.5-102(5), C.R.S., or the City Auditor, under authority of D.R.M.C. § 20-90.3.
- 7. Concessionaire is liable for any violations as provided in the Certification Ordinance. If Concessionaire violates any provision of this section or the Certification Ordinance, the City may terminate this Agreement for a breach of this Agreement. If the Agreement is so terminated, Concessionaire shall be liable for actual and consequential damages to the City. Any such termination of a contract due to a violation of this Section or the Certification Ordinance may also, at the discretion of the City, constitute grounds for disqualifying Concessionaire from submitting bids or proposals for future contracts with the City.

36 Environmental Requirements

As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following definitions: (a) "Environmental Laws" means any federal, state, and local statute, law, ordinance, regulation, rule, resolution, order, determination, writ, injunction, common law ruling, award, judgments and decrees, relating to the remediation, generation, production, installation, use, storage, treatment, transportation, Release, threatened Release, or disposal of Hazardous Materials, or the

protection of human health, safety, natural resources, animal health or welfare, or the environment; (b) "Hazardous Materials" means any substance, chemical, compound, product, solid, gas, liquid, waste, byproduct, pollutant, contaminant or material that is listed, classified or regulated pursuant to any Environmental Law; and (c) "Release" means any presence, emission, spill, seepage, leak, escape, leaching, discharge, injection, pumping, pouring, emptying, dumping, disposal, migration, or release of Hazardous Materials from any source into or upon the environment, including the air, soil, improvements, surface water, groundwater, the sewer, septic system, storm drain, publicly owned treatment works, or waste treatment, storage, or disposal systems. Contractor, in performing the Services and its associated rights and obligations under this Agreement, shall comply with all Environmental Laws, including but not limited to Environmental Laws regarding the storage, use, and disposal of Hazardous Materials and regarding Releases or threatened Releases of Hazardous Materials into the environment.

37 Entire Agreement

This Agreement, including the Exhibits hereto, supersedes any prior Agreement on the subject of the operation of the Services at the City Venues. This Agreement constitutes the entire Agreement of the parties in the subject matter thereof, and may not be changed, modified, discharged or extended by oral agreement or representation or otherwise except by written amendment duly executed by an authorized representative of Concessionaire and City.

38 Exhibits

The following Exhibits and Attachments are attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference and the rights and obligations contained therein are hereby incorporated into and shall be a part of this Agreement as if contained in the main body of this Agreement:

Exhibit A - Spaces / Locations
Exhibit B - Incentive Criteria

Exhibit C - Sample Monthly Financial Report

Exhibit D - Sample Daily Report

Exhibit E - Sample Statement of Receipts and Expenses

Exhibit F - City-Provided Equipment
Exhibit G - Services Description
Exhibit H - Certificate of Insurance

39 *Legal Authority*

Concessionaire represents and warrants that it possesses the legal authority, pursuant to any proper, appropriate and official motion, resolution or action passed or taken, to enter into this Agreement. Each person signing and executing this Agreement on behalf of Concessionaire represents and warrants that he or she has been fully authorized by Concessionaire to execute this Agreement on behalf of Concessionaire and to validly and legally bind Concessionaire to all the terms, performances and provisions of this Agreement. The City shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to either temporarily suspend or permanently terminate this Agreement if there is

a dispute as to the legal authority of either Concessionaire or the person signing this Agreement to enter into this Agreement.

40 Use, Possession, or Sale of Alcohol or Drugs

Concessionaire, its officers, agents, contractors, subcontractors, and employees shall cooperate and comply with the provisions of Executive Order 94 and Attachment A thereto concerning the use, possession or sale of alcohol or drugs. Violation of these provisions or refusal to cooperate with implementation of the policy can result in the City's barring Concessionaire, its officers, agents, contractors, subcontractors, and employees from City facilities or participating in City operations.

41 No Sale or Advertising of Tobacco Products; No Smoking

Concessionaire shall cooperate and comply with the provisions of Executive Order No. 13, which prohibits the sale or advertisement of tobacco products on City owned property and in facilities owned or operated or controlled by the City. "Sale" includes promotional distribution, whether for consideration or not, as well as commercial transactions for consideration. "Advertising" includes the display of commercial and noncommercial promotion of the purchase or use of tobacco products through any medium whatsoever, but does not include any advertising and sponsoring which is a part of a performance or show or any event displayed or held in City facilities.

42 Colorado Governmental Immunity Act

In relation to this Agreement, the City is relying upon and has not waived the monetary limitations and all other rights, immunities and protection provided by the Colorado Governmental Act, C.R.S. § 24-10-101, et seq.

43 Electronic Signatures and Electronic Records

Concessionaire consents to the use of electronic signatures by the City. This Agreement, and any other documents requiring a signature hereunder, may be signed electronically by the City in the manner specified by the City. The parties agree not to deny the legal effect or enforceability of this Agreement solely because it is in electronic form or because an electronic record was used in its formation. The parties agree not to object to the admissibility of this Agreement in the form of an electronic record, or a paper copy of an electronic document, or a paper copy of a document bearing an electronic signature, on the ground that it is an electronic record or electronic signature or that it is not in its original form or is not an original.

The remainder of this page left blank intentionally.

EXHIBIT A SPACES / LOCATIONS

[TO BE ATTACHED]

EXHIBIT B INCENTIVE CRITERIA

[TO BE ATTACHED]

EXHIBIT C SAMPLE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT

[TO BE ATTACHED]

EXHIBIT D SAMPLE DAILY REPORT

EXHIBIT ARENAS EVENT REPORT

EVENT DATE EVENT ATTENDANCE			
GROSS RECEIPTS	AMOUN	AMOUNT	
FOOD BEVERAGE & VENDING SALES			
Alcoholic Beverage Services			
Catered and Special Functions	\$	-	
Mobile/Fixed Concession Operations		-	
Other (Please List)		-	
Food Service and Non-Alcoholic Beverages			
Catered and Special Functions		-	
Mobile/Fixed Concession Operations		-	
Other (Please List)		-	
Third Party Sales			
Branded Concessions		-	
OTHER SALES			
Vending Machines (if any)		-	
Backstage Catering (non-exclusive)		-	
Other (Please List)		-	
TOTAL FOOD, BEVERAGE, & VENDING SALES			
RETAIL AND MERCHANDISE			
Retail Goods		-	
Merchandise Sales		-	
Consigned Retail Sales		-	
Other (Please List)		-	
OTHER (Please List)		-	
TOTAL GROSS RECEIPTS	\$	-	
PER CAPITA RECEIPTS	\$	-	

EXHIBIT E SAMPLE STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND EXPENSES

[TO BE ATTACHED]

$\frac{\text{EXHIBIT F}}{\text{SMALLWEARS AND CITY-PROVIDED EQUIPMENT}}$

[TO BE ATTACHED]



EXHIBIT G SCOPE OF WORK AND TECHNICAL REQUIREMENTS

A. BACKGROUND:

AVD is a relatively new agency created in June 2011 through a merger between Theatres and Arenas and the Denver Office of Cultural Affairs. AVD's mission statement is to enhance Denver's quality of life and economic vitality through premier public venues, artworks, and entertainment opportunities.

AVD's facilities host a wide array of public and private events including concerts; shows produced by Denver's performing arts groups and national touring companies; cultural activities from films to lectures, rodeos and other sporting events; popular and family entertainment; and conventions, trade shows and consumer shows. These high profile venues are well known regionally, nationally and internationally, and provide a substantial, positive economic impact to the Denver metropolitan area. In hosting these events, AVD serves diverse customer groups, including promoters, producers, performers, patrons, and members of the general public who attend performances.

AVD programs include, among other things, the 1% for Public Art Program, Create Denver creative sector Program, free public arts and cultural events, and permitting for film and special events.

AVD manages two of the largest City-owned, single unit performance spaces, the services for which are included in this Scope of Work: Red Rocks Amphitheatre, Trading Post, and Visitor's Center and The Denver Coliseum. Also included in this Agreement are Services at the Crossroads Theatre.

1. RED ROCKS AMPHITHEATRE

Red Rocks Amphitheatre is a natural, geologically formed, open-air theatre located in the 868-acre Red Rocks Park, which is set in the Rocky Mountain foothills, fifteen miles west of Denver. The majestic setting of the amphitheatre, along with the view of the Denver panorama from the top of the theater is breathtaking. The allure of the two 300 foot sandstone monoliths, Creation Rock (stage right) and Ship Rock (stage left), combined with a naturally occurring theater set on a mountain stage is not duplicated anywhere in the world. The theater provides perfect acoustics and was once listed as one of the seven natural wonders of the world. The design was done in 1936 and the amphitheatre was dedicated on June 15, 1941.

It was in 1947 that the annual Easter Sunrise Service first began. Since then, Red Rocks Amphitheatre has attracted the best of performers to the delight of the fans. Our two signature monoliths have embraced artists as diverse as Jimi Hendrix, The Grateful Dead, The Beatles, U2, symphonies and opera. The Burnham Hoyt Visitor Center contains a Performers Hall of Fame that showcases many historic performances as well as a geologic history of the park. In addition, to the Visitor Center, there is the Trading Post, which has concession and retail sales and provides guided tours, the Services for which are included in this Agreement.

Red Rocks hosted over 85 events each of the past two years during the May – October season, with over 550,000 ticketed visitors each year. The actual attendance at Red Rocks Park and Amphitheatre probably approaches 750,000 people on an annual basis, with thousands more visitors enjoying the Amphitheatre, Visitor's Center, Trading Post, and Park throughout the year.

2. DENVER COLISEUM

Opened in 1952, today The Denver Coliseum is home to the National Western Stock Show and hosts a multitude of other events including: rodeos, ice shows, motor shows, circuses, concerts, dances, exhibits and trade shows. The arena is 127' 2" wide and 233' 11" long. Installed in the concrete floor is a cooling system that can transform the arena into an ice-rink (86'x218') in a matter of hours.

Recently the Coliseum completed an interior make-over to the concourse areas plus the construction of a new box office, new windows, doors and floors. The Historic Denver Coliseum is proud to continue hosting entertainment and special events for the Denver community. The Denver Coliseum hosted over 95 events each of the past two years, with approximately 400,000 ticketed visitors each of the past two years.

In 2012, AVD signed a lease with the Denver Cutthroats, a minor league hockey team that will play 33 events between October and April each year. This new lease agreement should significantly increase concession sales at the Coliseum when compared to prior years.

3. THE CROSSROADS THEATRE

In 2010, AVD welcomed The Crossroads Theater into its portfolio of assets. Crossroads Theater is a 100-seat theatre, leased by AVD and is located at 2590 Washington Street, in the heart of the Five Points neighborhood. This venue has served small, independent performing arts groups and the Five Points community since 2007. The Crossroads Theatre hosted more than 150 ticketed events last year, with approximately 6,000 ticketed visitors to the Theatre.

B. GENERAL INFORMATION:

Concessionaire shall provide at the City Venues: food/beverage, retail and merchandise services, as specified herein; sell alcoholic beverages under certain conditions; operate pantry and other food production/storage areas and bulk storage facilities; operate food courts, restaurants, fixed and mobile concession stands; cater food and beverages to special functions; and vend various refreshments and other items as approved by the City. Concessionaire shall also operate any and all dedicated lounges, mobile thematic food services, vending services and other foodservice operations and the Visitor Center and Trading Post at Red Rocks along with tour services in Red Rocks Park and Amphitheatre as required from time to time in the subject facilities.

C. DEFINITIONS:

Capitalized terms used in this Exhibit shall have the definitions provided in Section 1 of the Agreement or as provided below.

D. EQUIPMENT:

The City's equipment, smallwares, and fixtures available for use by Concessionaire in the performance of the Services under this Agreement are outlined in **Exhibit F**. If Concessionaire wishes to provide equipment beyond the City-Provided Equipment for use in its performance of the Services, any items purchased, used, and installed at the Locations shall be of a type and class approved by the City and in sufficient quantities to provide proper service to the patrons of the Facilities, all such items to be approved by City and deemed a Cost of Sales. All such purchased equipment, smallwares, and furnishings shall be new, of modern design, and of first-class material and construction. The furnishings, smallwares, and equipment shall be of such quality, design, and finish as will be in keeping, in the opinion of the Director, with the general décor of the Facilities. Concessionaire must obtain written approval from AVD before purchase and installation.

E. SERVICES FOR THE CROSSROADS THEATRE:

Services provided for The Crossroads Theater will be on a month-to-month basis only.

F. TAXES:

Concessionaire shall pay (and notify the City before delinquency of) all taxes, levies, and assessments arising from its activities on or occupancy of the Locations, including but not limited to taxes arising out of the activity or business conducted on the Facilities; taxes levied on its property, equipment and improvements on the Facilities; and taxes on Concessionaire's interest in this Agreement and any leasehold interest deemed to have been created thereby. In the event the State of Colorado makes any demand upon the City for payment of leasehold excise taxes and/or other taxes arising from Concessionaire's possessory interest in the Locations or withholds funds due to the City to enforce collections of such taxes, and where Concessionaire has failed to notify City of such requirement, then Concessionaire shall be liable for such taxes demanded together with any interest and penalties associated therewith or, at no expense to the City, contest such collection action and shall indemnify the City for all sums expended by, or withheld by the State of Colorado from the City in connection with such taxation. Any such interest, penalties, or other sums resulting from such delinquency shall not be a Cost of Sales, except to the except arising due to the delay, negligence or willful misconduct of City (or its employees or agents).

G. RECYCLING OF WASTE MATERIALS:

Concessionaire shall collect, sort, and separate into such categories as may be legally required, all solid waste products on the Facilities, and recycle all such products that are locally accepted for recycling. Each separately sorted category of waste products shall be placed in separate receptacles reasonably approved by the City, which receptacles shall be dumped or removed from the Facilities, at such minimum frequency as is specified by the City.

The City reserves the right to refuse to collect or accept from the Concessionaire any waste product that is not sorted and separated as required by law, ordinance, rule or regulation, and to require the Concessionaire to arrange for the collection of the same at the Concessionaire using a contractor satisfactory to the City. The Concessionaire shall pay all costs, fines, penalties, and damages that may be imposed on City or the Concessionaire as a consequence of the Concessionaire's failure to comply with the provisions of this subsection; costs, fines, penalties, and damages imposed as a result of Concessionaire's failure to comply shall not be a Cost of Sales.

H. SPECIAL SERVICES AT FACILITIES SUBJECT TO PRIOR CITY APPROVAL AND AT CONCESSIONAIRE'S COST:

The Concessionaire, directly or through a third party, will consult with the City about the installation, maintenance and repair of any utility service related to the Concessionaire's operations and its use of the Locations that is not provided or maintained by the City (as provided in Section 14 of the Agreement). Any special utility or waste disposal facility, item of equipment, or service beyond that provided to the Locations by the City, must be installed only in accordance with plans and specifications approved by the Director and other appropriate City officials, in writing, in advance of such installation. The Concessionaire shall not install on the Facilities any fixture, furnishing, or trade equipment that exceeds the capacity of any utility or waste facility for such location. The Concessionaire shall pay, before delinquency, all fees and charges for the installation, change, and relocation of any point or means of service by any utility or waste line or system.

I. COOPERATIVE PARKING:

As of the commencement date of the resulting Contract, the Facilities have very limited close-in parking. Accordingly, unless otherwise specifically provided herein, the City will provide a "to be determined" number of spots at each facility, for full-time employees only.

J. SPACE AVAILABLE FOR CONCESSIONAIRE USE:

The City will furnish to the Concessionaire where applicable for the period of the Agreement office and storage spaces, concession areas, certain buffet and /or banquet seating areas, kitchens, food/beverage areas, pantry spaces, fixed bar/lounge areas, and foodservice equipment.

The City will also furnish spaces for office, money counting, and record keeping purposes of the Concessionaire for the Term. Use of these office spaces for purposes other than operation of this Agreement, without prior written approval of the Director shall result in grounds for termination of the Agreement.

Location of any and all mobile concession stands and auxiliary storage spaces required by the Concessionaire shall be approved by the Director. The Concessionaire shall acquire no rights to such locations once assigned, and the City reserves the right to require the Concessionaire to move mobile stands and equipment and to relocate items from any auxiliary storage spaces when needs of other events require the use of them.

K. SERVICES PROVIDED BY THE CITY:

The City shall provide gas, electricity, garbage, recycling, and water services for use by the Concessionaire.

Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the City shall not be liable or responsible for any failure to furnish the services set forth above occasioned by strike or other work stoppage, federal, state, or local government action, breakdown, or failure of apparatus, equipment, or machinery employed in supplying said services, and temporary stoppage for repair, improvement, or enlargement thereof, or any act or condition beyond its reasonable control.

L. ADDITIONAL LABOR:

The Concessionaire shall furnish all common and skilled labor for the setting up and dismantling or moving of all food and beverage facilities including related furniture and related equipment in such locations as may be agreed upon between the Concessionaire and the City, the costs of such labor being deemed a Cost of Sales.

M. PAYMENT OF PREVAILING WAGES:

- 1. Employees of the Concessionaire or the Concessionaire's subcontractors are subject to the payment of prevailing wages pursuant to § 20-76 et seq., DRMC. By executing this Agreement, the Concessionaire covenants and affirms that the Concessionaire is familiar with the prevailing wages provisions and is prepared to pay or cause to be paid prevailing wages.
- 2. The Concessionaire shall pay every Covered Worker, as defined in §20-76(a) DRMC, a prevailing wage as provided in § 20-76, DRMC. The prevailing wage rate schedule applicable to this Agreement shall be not less than the scale of wages from time to time determined to be the prevailing wages.
- 3. In accordance with § 20-76(b) and (d), DRMC, the following mandatory provisions are included:
- a) The minimum wages to be paid for every Covered Worker shall be not less than the scale of wages from time to time determined under § 20-76(b) and (c) to be the prevailing wages.
- b) The Concessionaire or its subcontractor shall pay Covered Workers employed directly upon the site of the work the full amounts accrued at time of payment, computed at wage rates not less than those stated or referenced in the specifications, and any addenda thereto, on the actual date of bid or proposal opening, or in effect on the date of grant of permit for performance of such work under DRMC Section 49-171 et seq., or on the date of the written purchase order for contracts let by informal procedure under DRMC Section 20-63(b), regardless of any contractual relationship which may be alleged to exist between the Concessionaire or subcontractor and the Covered Workers. Increases in prevailing wages subsequent to the date of the contract for a period not to exceed one (1) year shall not be

mandatory on either the Concessionaire or subcontractors. Future increases in living wages on contracts whose period of performance exceeds one (1) year shall be mandatory for the Concessionaire and subcontractors only on the yearly anniversary date of the contract. Decreases in prevailing wages subsequent to the date of the contract for a period not to exceed one (1) year shall not be permitted. Decreases in prevailing wages on contracts whose period of performance exceed one (1) year shall not be effective except on the yearly anniversary date of the contract.

- c) The Concessionaire and its subcontractors shall pay all Covered Workers at least once a week the full amounts of wages accrued at the time of payment, except that the Concessionaire and subcontractor shall make such payments to non-construction workers such as janitorial or custodial workers at least biweekly.
- d) The Concessionaire shall post in a prominent and easily accessible place at the site of the work the scale of wages to be paid by the Concessionaire and all subcontractors working under the Concessionaire.
- e) If the Concessionaire or any subcontractor shall fail to pay such wages as are required by the contract, no warrant or demand for payment to the Concessionaire shall be honored until the Concessionaire furnishes the Auditor evidence satisfactory to the Auditor that such wages so required by the contract have been paid.
- f) The Concessionaire shall furnish to the Auditor each week during which work is in progress under the contract, a true and correct copy of the payroll records of all Covered Workers employed under the contract, either by the Concessionaire or subcontractors. Such payroll records shall include, among other things, information showing the number of hours worked by each Covered Worker employed under the contract, the hourly pay of such Covered Worker, any deductions made from pay, and the net amount of pay received by each Covered Worker for the period covered by the payroll.
- g) The copy of the payroll record shall be accompanied by a sworn statement of the Concessionaire that the copy is a true and correct copy of the payroll records of all Covered Workers working under the contract either for the Concessionaire or subcontractors, that payments were made to the Covered Workers as set forth in the payroll records, that no deductions were made other than those set forth in such records, and that all Covered Workers employed on work under the contract, either by the Concessionaire or by any subcontractor, have been paid the prevailing wages as set forth in the contract specifications.
- h) If any Covered Worker employed by the Concessionaire or any subcontractor under the contract has been or is being paid a rate of wages less than the rate of wages required by the contract to be paid as aforesaid, the City may, by written notice to the Concessionaire, suspend or terminate the Concessionaire's right to proceed with the Work, or such part of the Work as to which there has been a failure to pay the required wages, and in the event of termination may prosecute the Work to completion by contract or otherwise, and the Concessionaire and any sureties shall be liable to the City for any excess costs occasioned the City thereby.

In the event of any inconsistency between the DRMC and the foregoing provisions, the DRMC provisions shall govern.

N. CONCESSIONAIRE ACCESS TO FACILITIES:

The Concessionaire and its employees shall be entitled to enter upon and remain in the Locations with access at designated areas for work purposes only during event or functions at the Facilities; and for a reasonable time prior to and subsequent to events; and non-event days for administrative or non-event functions; and only for the purpose of exercising the rights and privileges required to fulfill the duties of the Agreement. This paragraph shall not exclude the Concessionaire reasonable access to office areas for the conduct of normal business activities associated with the Agreement.

O. MERCHANDISING AND SAMPLES:

Nothing in the Agreement shall be construed to prohibit a Tenant of the Facilities from exhibiting any non-food and/or non-beverage merchandise or article in connection with the exhibit or other type of event, or from dispensing free samples of such merchandise. Any and all sampling of food and/or beverage items by Tenants shall be in accordance with the terms of the Agreement.

P. OPERATION OF FOOD/BEVERAGE SERVICES:

The Concessionaire shall have the food/beverage services open and in operation a reasonable time before, during, and after all events or operating days as may be requested or approved by the Director. These services may be in operation when there are no events, upon approval by the Director. The staffing levels and operation times of food service at each location must be approved by the Director.

The public's right shall not be infringed upon by any activity of the Concessionaire or any of its employees. The activities of the Concessionaire shall be such as to render service to the public in a dignified manner and no pressure, coercion, or persuasion shall be used by the Concessionaire in an attempt to influence the public to use the services or product of the Concessionaire. All concession sales shall be conducted and operated under the supervision of the Concessionaire, but shall in no way interfere with the orderly operation of any event. The Concessionaire shall conduct all sales at such times and at locations, for such purpose as designated by the Director. The Concessionaire will not circulate throughout the premises for the sale of any merchandise, except with the permission of the Director. Neither the Concessionaire nor his employees shall distribute campaign or political literature or any commercial solicitation literature of any kind at any time in or on the premises of the Facilities.

The City reserves the right to direct the Concessionaire to partially or completely suspend service during those events with which the Concessionaire's operation may be incompatible in the opinion of the Director, such suspension to be judged prudent and responsible.

Q. SPECIALIZED SERVICES TO BE PROVIDED BY CONCESSIONAIRE:

In addition to the normal concessions, and catering functions the Concessionaire will provide in the Facilities, the Concessionaire will be required to provide specialized services normally associated with recreational facility activities. These specialized services may include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Mobile and fixed thematic concession facilities service.
- Main Kitchen storage/preparation.
- Special meeting and buffet/banquet/catering services.
- Water, tablecloth, and table skirting service.
- Backstage Catering as set forth in Section 7.M of the Agreement. .

R. CATERING REQUIREMENTS:

When catering, and/or other special i.e., mobile "special emphasis" food service areas are in operation, food served must be cooked and prepared by the chef on the premises with the exception of baked goods and standard canned and packaged items. Deviation from this requirement must be approved in advance in writing by the Director.

S. USE OF FACILITIES BY OTHERS:

The City, from time to time, may request other service providers at the Facilities. Concessionaire shall not permit the private use of any part of the premises without, in each case, the prior written approval of the Director.

T. USE OF FACILITIES FOR OFFSITE FOOD FUNCTIONS:

Should the Concessionaire utilize the Locations for off-site food functions, the Concessionaire must obtain written approval of the Director at least two working days before the function. All such services are to be considered part of Gross Receipts and Gross Sales and, as such, are fee approved operations.

U. PROCUREMENT POLICY:

The Concessionaire shall purchase food, beverages, and operational supplies, such as uniforms, laundry service, paper goods, and detergents needed for the foodservices and related operating supports to be supplied hereunder from whatever source or sources that will establish and effect procedures which assure the quality and quantity required at the most economical prices. For purposes of determining direct product costs, local trade discounts will be credited to direct product costs but cash discounts or discounts not exclusively related to Concessionaire's operations at the Facilities shall not be credited to such direct product costs. All such purchases shall be in the Concessionaire's name and payment shall be made directly to the supplier.

The Concessionaire will hold the City harmless from actions by suppliers and will permit no liens whatsoever to be placed against the property of the City as a result of the failure of the

Concessionaire, his agents, contractors, and/or sub-contractors to make all payments required of them in this connection.

The City maintains the final right of approval of Concessionaire supplies however all approved suppliers must provide competitive produce quality, service, and prices.

V. MINIMUM FOOD PURCHASE SPECIFICATION REQUIREMENTS:

BEEF GRADE: USDA Top Choice

Heifer or Steer YIELD: 3 or under

CONDITION: Fresh or Frozen

GROUND Chuck, 20% fat content

BEEF:

PORK GRADE: US No. 1

YIELD:

VEAL GRADE: USDA Choice Calf CONDITION: Fresh or Frozen
USDA Choice Fresh or Frozen

LAMB GRADE: USDA Choice Under one year old CONDITION: USDA Choice Fresh or Frozen

POULTRY GRADE: USDA Inspected Grade A CONDITION: Hens – Fresh or Frozen

ON:

Hens – Fresh or Frozen
Fryers – Fresh or Frozen
Duckling – Fresh or Frozen
Turkey Breast – Fresh or

Frozen

FISH & SHELLFISH GRADE: When graded – A, otherwise

CONDITION: top quality Fresh when

available, frozen if cost and

availability warrant EGGS GRADE: USDA A. 100% can

GRADE: USDA A, 100% candled Large

CONDITION: Fresh

BUTTER GRADE: USDA AA

MILK & MILK US Grade A pasteurized

PRODUCTS

NONFAT DRY MILK GRADE: US Extra

BULK ICE CREAM Minimum 12% milk fat, 80-

100% overrun

FRESH VEGETABLES & GRADE: US No. 1 or better

FRUITS

FROZEN VEGETABLES GRADE: A

CANNED FRUIT GRADE: US Grade A or Fancy in

heavy syrup

CANNED VEGETABLES GRADE: US Grade A or Fancy

DRY GOODS RICE: Fancy or US No. 2

BEANS: Grade A

BAKED PRODUCTS At the City's approval

W. MENUS:

The Concessionaire shall plan and prepare imaginative menus for the Facilities in consultation and coordination with the Director and in accordance with its specifications. Quantities, portions, prices of banquet/meeting and concession snack items for all food and beverages shall be subject to approval by the City according to its requirements. At certain special shows that occur annually, Concessionaire shall offer menu items generic to the show type in consultation with the show manager and Director.

Only foods and beverages that are wholesome and of the best quality, in the opinion of the City or its Director, shall be purchased (and served). Any changes to the menu or pricing are subject to approval by the City.

The Concessionaire shall first submit for the City's approval and shall keep posted in places conspicuous to patrons of the Locations, a full list of all items, with their prices offered for consumption on a given day.

The Concessionaire, shall prepare approved, printed catering and other menus utilizing the Facilities' logos and used exclusively for the Facilities, in sufficient quantities to insure clean, neat menus are available at all times to guests. All menus shall include the courses available, prices, date of distribution, and location. All menus shall be subject to the approval of the City prior to distribution and shall be used by the City and the Concessionaire's marketing department for sales purposes.

Should the Concessionaire or its representative directly contract with a Tenant for a meal function, buffet and/or cocktail party, or for providing any services in the Facilities, Concessionaire shall forward within two (2) business days one (1) copy of the completed agreement for such services to the Director. Such agreement shall list the various dishes to be served, the approximate number of people involved, the services to be provided, the prices of the various services and the total charges to be collected for the function by the Concessionaire.

X. FOOD HANDLING:

Concessionaire shall adhere to all HACCP rules, regulations, and operating requirements.

The Concessionaire shall inspect all merchandise upon delivery for quality and quantity compliance with the original order and shall store all food and beverage merchandise in proper areas in sanitary containers which are dated for effective rotation of stock on a first-in, first-out basis. The Concessionaire shall cover all refreshments and food exhibited for sale in showcases or other suitable containers. The Concessionaire shall wrap all pre-packaged sandwiches, cakes, and other similar products in cellophane or similar transparent wrapping appropriate to the food service industry.

The Concessionaire agrees to provide the Services and operate the Locations in a professional and resourceful manner, complying with all public health regulations including a Grade "A" sanitation rating to the satisfaction of all authorized local Health Department officers and the City.

Y. FOOD QUALITY:

The Concessionaire shall sell only foods that comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, acts, orders, or regulations including, without limitation on the generality of the foregoing, the applicable sections of the following laws, acts, and regulations:

- The Food and Drug Act.
- Applicable Meat Inspection Regulations.
- The Humane Slaughter of Animals and Humane Slaughter Regulations.
- The Official Methods of Analysis and Association of Official Analytical Chemists.
- The Federal Department of Agriculture Products Regulations.
- The Fish Inspection Act and Regulations.
- Meat and Canned Foods Act.
- Fresh and Processed Fruit and Vegetable Regulations.
- The U.S. Grain Act and Grain Regulations

Z. ITEMS TO BE SOLD:

The Concessionaire shall sell those products, commodities, and articles normally found in operations similar to the Facilities, subject to the approval of the City, which approval may be granted or denied, in City's sole discretion. The City may require the Concessionaire to sell items, which, in the City's sole discretion, are necessary for providing the Services under this Agreement and the City may limit, prohibit, or require discontinuance of the sale of any products, commodities, or articles.

As a matter of general policy, prices shall not be higher than those charged at comparable arenas, amphitheaters, theaters, bars, snack facilities, hotels, convention centers, restaurants, etc., for the same quality merchandise and services within the Western Region of the United States of America. Prices must be posted in displays on all stands and vendor equipment. Within thirty (30) days after execution of the Agreement, the Concessionaire shall submit a proposal for price signs to be provided by the Concessionaire for the written approval of the Director. The Director

shall be the sole and final judge of prices, sign quality, size of letters, and propriety of any advertising proposed.

The Concessionaire shall submit a detailed price schedule based on current market conditions for all items it proposes to sell showing size, weight, quantity, and prices of items. This includes items sold in retail and merchandise areas, the bars, concession stands, in lounge areas, mobile "special emphasis" food services areas, in vending machines, etc., meeting rooms, for all catered services and special service requests, etc. All prices finally adopted will require approval of the Director.

The Director and the Concessionaire shall, on a quarterly basis, or as deemed necessary by the City or the Concessionaire, review the general price structure of all commodities sold and may, in writing increase or decrease the maximum price or size of any article or articles offered for sale.

If the Concessionaire desires to offer for sale any article not included in the approved price schedule, menu, or alcoholic beverage list, then the Concessionaire may be allowed to do so after first obtaining written approval of the Director to sell such articles. If the Concessionaire desires to substitute an article listed in the approved price schedule, prior written approval must be obtained from the Director as to the quality, size, weight, quantity, brand, and price of such substitute article.

The Concessionaire will not sell any products of inferior quality. All items to be sold require the approval of the Director. This requirement shall not require the Concessionaire to rely exclusively on one seller's or manufacturer's item(s), but several manufacturers or sellers may be used or the Concessionaire's original source may be changed in the interest of quality, competition, and public appeal, as required by the Director.

All merchandise kept for sale shall be subject to inspection and approval or rejection by the Director during the Term. The Concessionaire shall immediately remove from the Facilities all rejected merchandise and it shall not be returned for sale. Notwithstanding the above, Concessionaire shall have sole and final responsibility to comply with the Agreement, perform all of its obligations under the Agreement, and to comply with all governmental codes, regulations, and laws.

The Concessionaire shall purchase, sell, and feature locally (Colorado) produced products, as long as said wholesale prices are competitive with similar products available on the open market.

The City grants to Concessionaire the right to negotiate a split of Novelties receipts with the consignor of each exclusive event, except for those pre-existing events that have historically maintained their own Novelties rights. The Concessionaire will negotiate for the most favorable return and the City will support Concessionaire's efforts to secure a favorable split. The City will retain the right of final decision if an impasse occurs. Concessionaire and the City acknowledge and agree certain shows are designed to have booths displaying merchandise for sale similar to a public show at a convention center, which examples include the National Western Stock Show, the March Pow Wow and The Super Sale, and for such shows or events,

Concessionaire shall not have rights to sales from the booths at these events, but shall retain rights to sales of merchandise related to the event such as t-shirts and CD's, except when exempted under terms of this Agreement.

From time to time, in the best interests of City, the City will direct the Concessionaire to adopt special promotional pricing for sales of food, beverage or other services. When these promotional efforts occur, Concessionaire and City shall in writing mutually agree on terms and document the effort with the details including description, pricing etc.

AA. SALE OF ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES:

Concessionaire must provide (as a Cost of Sales) an Alcohol Awareness Training Program for its staff, for all alcohol service and monitoring staff, i.e. TIPS, TEAMS, etc. at least once a year and provide a complete record of training to the Director. Concessionaire must provide the same training for new employees at the employees' orientation.

BB. DELIVERIES

The Concessionaire shall monitor the movement of products in and out of all Locations to avoid all conflicts with functions and events at the Facilities. The Concessionaire shall cover or otherwise protect all food, beverages, food handling and merchandise equipment being moved through public areas. The Concessionaire will adhere to all relevant Facilities' policies and procedures.

CC. TAKE OUT SALES:

Take-out sales are strictly prohibited.

DD. RESTRICTIONS ON SALES:

The City's contracts with tenants for particular functions may stipulate reasonable restrictions on the sale of food, beverages, concession items and retail/merchandise items, where necessary, to protect the goods on display or where necessary because of the nature of the function. For example, without limiting the generality of the foregoing; such items as certain specialty foods or the sale of alcoholic beverages (at specific performance/event times as determined by the Director) may not be permitted.

Chewing gum, sunflower seeds, and stickers may not be sold in the Facilities by Concessionaire or its subcontractors whether from vending machines or otherwise.

EE. ADVERTISING & MARKETING:

The City retains and reserves the sole and exclusive right to negotiate and sell sponsorships and advertising at and with regard to the Facilities. Further, the City retains and reserves all pouring rights for all food and beverages sold at the Facilities. The Concessionaire retains no advertising rights or approvals within this Agreement.

The Concessionaire shall not advertise in any manner other than as approved by the Director and the Concessionaire shall have no right to use the trademarks, symbols, or trade name or name of the Facilities, directly or indirectly, in connection with any production, promotion, service, or publication not located in the Facilities, without the prior written approval of the Director.

The City and the Concessionaire will coordinate the marketing of all Services at all Facilities.

FF.TRAINING REQUIREMENTS:

The Concessionaire must conduct regularly scheduled training classes for all employees and management throughout the Term. This schedule and its content shall be approved by the City in writing. At a minimum such training will consist of Customer Service, Alcohol Awareness, Positional Skills Training including banquet service training, buffet set up, bartending, and serving techniques and food/wine service techniques, food handling and other facility operations. A detailed record of the training will be provided to the Director. The costs of such training shall each be deemed a Cost of Sales.

GG. PERSONNEL:

The Concessionaire shall select, employ, train, furnish, and deploy employees who are proficient, productive, and courteous to patrons; and shall discipline, and if necessary, discharge any and all personnel working in this operation. The Concessionaire shall also provide adequately-trained relief personnel in the event of absences by primary staff. Whenever possible, Concessionaire shall hire its personnel from within the greater Denver area.

The Concessionaire shall furnish all necessary qualified supervision for the performance of the food/beverage and retail/merchandise service and agrees to assign to these operations highly competent, full-time resident managers who shall have no duties other than direction of these operations. The Concessionaire shall secure the City's approval in advance of the manager for this assignment and, once assigned to this operation, such manager shall not be replaced without approval of the City.

The Concessionaire's general or assistant managers shall be available at all food/beverage and retail sale functions.

Subject to, and to the extent permitted by, applicable law, if at any time the City finds that the Concessionaire's managers or his/her alternates are unsatisfactory, and such causes and reasons are duly reported in writing by the City to the Concessionaire, the Concessionaire shall, within ten (10) days, unless specifically extended in writing by the Director, replace him/her with one who is satisfactory to the City. At any time Concessionaire's management desires to leave the Facilities, Concessionaire's current management staff will provide to the replacement management such detailed training as necessary and required before changing his/her position.

Concessionaire's full-time management shall provide a management staffing plan. Such management team shall have no other duties other than those specifically dedicated to the Facilities on a full-time basis

Personnel supplied by the Concessionaire will be deemed employees of the Concessionaire and will not for any purpose be considered employees or agents of the City.

The Concessionaire assumes full responsibility for the actions of such personnel while performing the Services pursuant to the Agreement, and shall be solely responsible for their supervision, daily direction and control, payment of salary (including withholding and income taxes, unemployment insurance, workers' compensation, and Social Security) and the like, as required by applicable federal, state, and local laws.

The City shall have the right to refuse access to the Locations at any time to any employee of the Concessionaire, its agents, sub-contractors, or suppliers' employees. The exercise of this right by the City shall not diminish the Concessionaire's obligation of performance arising under this Agreement, provided that the City shall allow the Concessionaire to have access to the Locations at times sufficient to fulfill said obligation. The right of access for personnel shall be limited to the Locations and those parts of the City's premises available for common use (e.g., entrances, hallways, stairways, concession areas, lounges, kitchens, and other food preparation areas), but shall not include a right of access to other parts of the Facilities unless specifically approved by the City. The Concessionaire will be responsible for requiring employees to abide by all instructions, regulations, and codes as specified by the City.

The City requires that all Concessionaire's full time employees engage in the preparing, handling, serving, and storing food, meet State and Local Health Department requirements including a Health Card and Food Handlers Permit. Concessionaire shall comply with the minimum health requirements provided by law for full-time Concessionaire food and beverage service employees at the Facilities and such other requirements as shall be determined jointly by Concessionaire and City.

Concessionaire shall maintain all records regarding required medical examinations, substance abuse testing and other requirements agreed upon by City and Concessionaire. Concessionaire shall provided evidence of compliance with such testing (but not actual results) to the City upon request, subject to compliance with applicable laws (including employee privacy laws). All foodservice employees' medical reports shall be kept in a confidential file by Concessionaire at and kept up to date.

In the event that any employee refuses health inspections, upon the Director's request, subject to, and to the extent permitted by, applicable law, Concessionaire shall remove the employee from the foodservice operations.

Subject to, and to the extent permitted by, applicable law, Concessionaire shall remove from the foodservice and/or retail operations any employee whom the Director considers detrimental to the best interests of the Facilities.

HH. SPECIAL PERSONNEL SERVICES:

On various occasions the Concessionaire may be called upon to provide personnel for special purposes such as bartending, waiter/waitress, host/hostess, or other activities. The special personnel services are not to be confused with the normal personnel required by the Concessionaire to meet the Concessionaire's responsibilities to provide the Services at the Facilities

II. TIPPING POLICY:

• Concessionaire's employees at the Facilities will not solicit or accept tips or other gratuities; provided that employees may accept, but not solicit, tips in any cash bar environment.

JJ. UNIFORMS:

The Concessionaire or its agent will provide and maintain uniforms for all employees. Selection type, color, style, and dress code of uniforms, including specialty uniforms designated to fit the exact nature of the various operations at the Facilities, shall be at the discretion and approval of the City. The Concessionaire must provide written and graphic presentation of a choice of uniform styles and availability to and at the City's request. The City will provide the graphic standards to be followed in this design.

The City will consider the Concessionaire to be the sole contact and responsible for the services it or its agents provide. Additionally, the condition of the hygiene and appearance of employees is the Concessionaire's sole responsibility notwithstanding the fact the Director shall have the right to comment on and where necessary, cause Concessionaire to ensure that all employees meet minimum hygiene and appearance standards.

KK. CASH CONTROL AND INVENTORY SYSTEMS:

The Concessionaire, except upon prior written approval, shall use in all permanent and portable concession stands, special function areas, retail and merchandise areas et. al. a cash control system of a type provided by the Concessionaire and approved by the Director.

Inventory systems to determine sales and product usage must be industry standard approved by the City. The Concessionaire will not permit any of his/her employees to make change from boxes, container, or from pockets of clothing in the above establishments.

Concessionaire shall utilize industry standard computerized sales, control, and point-of-sale locations including but not limited to fixed and mobile concession and retail/merchandise stands, vending rooms, mobile thematic carts, lounges, and the like. All products must be able to be tracked from purchase order through delivery, warehouse stocking, inventory depletion, and final sales transaction and reduction from par or other stock inventories. The City shall have complete and open access to this system and its reports at all times. Concessionaire shall provide City with a preliminary sales/expense report by noon on the day following an event.

The Concessionaire will provide credit card payment solutions approved by the City at all retail outlets

Concessionaire shall only utilize City- approved computer hardware and account software for all records, proposals, contracts, invoices, letters, and all accounting functions related to the operations of this Agreement.

LL. SEPARATE BANK ACCOUNT REQUIREMENT:

A separate bank account at a bank approved by the City and showing proof of Public Depository Protection Act (PDPA) depository coverage under the State of Colorado shall be maintained for all sales deposits. Cash shortages in excess of inventory sales may not be deducted from Gross Receipts.

MM. REQUIRED ONSITE RECORDS:

Concessionaire will keep within the Locations proper, adequate, and accurate accounting books and records prepared in accordance with an accounting system approved by the City, of all business and transactions engaged in under the Agreement, for all periods included within the term of the Contract, said records to include without limitation the daily receipts and expenses, the daily bank deposits, the daily sales, and business done by the Concessionaire and shall preserve and make available for audit and examination by the City (at City's sole cost and upon reasonable prior notice during normal business hours) such books and records. City acknowledges that Concessionaire provides consolidated tax returns which returns are not maintained onsite at the Facilities; however, at City's request Concessionaire will make available onsite at the Facilities (within a reasonable time after such request), copies of those portions of Concessionaire's consolidated tax returns applicable to the Facilities and Services under this Agreement.

NN. ANNUAL INVENTORIES:

By May 31st of each Contract Year, the Concessionaire and the City shall conduct annual inventories of all food/beverage equipment, leasehold improvements, uniforms, and small wares to determine required replacements, repairs, and adjustments to any depreciation schedules in force pertaining to such items.

OO. EQUIPMENT AND SMALLWARES:

The City will provide for use by Concessionaire in the performance of the Services certain equipment and smallwares listed in **Exhibit F**. All equipment and smallwares so listed shall remain the property of the City.

The Concessionaire shall maintain and repair of the City-Provided equipment during the Term as provided in Section 15 of the Agreement. The Concessionaire will cooperate with the City's maintenance personnel to develop and institute of a comprehensive preventative maintenance

program and shall organize and institute maintenance contracts on all major pieces of foodservice and retail/merchandise equipment to ensure continuous, high-quality, long-term maintenance and upkeep on this important equipment.

Other equipment such as office equipment, safe, and generally non-foodservice specific equipment, etc. that is not provided by City, is to be provided by the Concessionaire so as to ensure a full and complete operating system.

The Concessionaire shall maintain the Locations in first-class condition and shall maintain the City-Provided Equipment (including smallwares) and Concessionaire's equipment (including smallwares) in operable and presentable condition (except ordinary wear and tear) and perform the Services generally at a high level of cleanliness and neat appearance at all times. Concessionaire shall be fully responsible for repairs in excess of normal repair and maintenance provided such repairs are due to the negligence or willful misconduct of Concessionaire and pertain to conditions beyond customary industry standards regarding wear, tear and loss of the respective items during the applicable time period.

The Director shall be sole judge as to the sufficiency of the cleanliness and neatness of appearance of the premises and equipment with the power to order any changes or alterations thereto that it may deem desirable. The Concessionaire shall return to the City the Locations and City-Provided Equipment in a neat and tidy condition and in good operating order (less normal wear and tear) at the expiration or other termination of Agreement.

The Concessionaire shall perform a physical inventory of small wares at least on a quarterly basis. Concessionaire shall provide the Director with the written results of the physical inventory within five (5) business days of the inventory and shall replace all missing or damaged smallwares within thirty (30) days of the physical inventory, such replacement being deemed a Cost of Sales (unless due to the negligence or willful misconduct of Concessionaire beyond customary industry standards regarding small wares wear, tear and loss).

Concessionaire shall notify the Director of the need and reason for replacement of the City-Provided Equipment and Concessionaire's utensils and/or fixtures used in the handling, preparation and service of all foods and beverages for written approval before replacing any equipment.

The Concessionaire shall, from time to time and with the prior written approval of the City, furnish additional equipment and small wares as required for the proper operation of the foodservice program.

The Concessionaire acknowledges and agrees that it has inspected the City-Provided Equipment and agrees to accept the City-Provided Equipment, in the condition in which it is found by the Concessionaire, at the commencement of the Term. Any additional equipment for use in the food/beverage service areas added by the Concessionaire must be approved in advance in writing by the Director.

The City shall provide any additional small wares adequate to provide service in the Facilities for special function areas, in dining areas as well as equipment to service the Locations as set out herein etc. as specified and purchased by the Concessionaire with assistance and final written approval by the City. Such equipment provided by the City, shall include but may not be limited to the following:

- Adequate supply of china, including but not limited to plates, bowls, cups, saucers, water pitchers, and related items. Unless otherwise directed by the City the china may have the logo of the Facilities imprinted thereon.
- Beverage glassware.
- Adequate supply of trays (both service and cafeteria style).
- Supply of stainless steel and/or silver plated dining utensils, including but not limited to: knives, forks, spoons, and soup spoons.
- Ample supplies of back-of-the-house servicewares, including but not limited to: Kitchen utensils, equipment cleaning aids, and related items.
- Buffet and catering equipment, i.e.: chafing dishes, mobile carts, servicewares, and related items.
- Salt and pepper shakers.
- Specialty mobile foodservice equipment/carts.
- Other miscellaneous tabletop smallwares as required.
- Electronic, computerized point-of-sale cash/inventory control system with all tie in equipment necessary to operate fully with City and the Facilities computer systems.
- Food service related furniture including but not limited to tables, chairs, and interior furniture primarily for use in the areas serving catered events.

PP.CLEANING, INSPECTION AND SANITATION:

The Concessionaire will maintain, at all times, all kitchens, food preparation and serving areas, retail areas and all equipment, fixtures, paraphernalia, material, utensils, and other items therein, in a clean and sanitary condition and comply with all applicable health and sanitation laws and regulations in effect where the areas are located. The Concessionaire shall at all times permit and facilitate inspection of the foodservice operation by the City and its representatives and by authorized public authorities.

The Concessionaire shall provide the City with the following:

- A description of the Concessionaire's approach to sanitation practices.
- A description of the Concessionaire's program used to train employees in proper sanitation procedures.
- The Concessionaire shall comply with all Sanitation Regulations and Job Inspection requirements.

OO. SANITATION REGULATIONS:

The following shall establish the minimum sanitation guidelines to be followed by the Contactor:

- The Sanitation Code of the U.S. Food Service Industry as published by the National Restaurant Association.
- All State of Colorado Acts and Regulations governing foodservice operations sanitation.
- All applicable Regulations of the City and County of Denver and its Health Department.
- All applicable Federal Government Acts and Regulations.
- Appropriate voluntary codes and guidelines established by trade associations and other groups operating within the food industry.
- Any specific guidelines established by the City and set out herein or from time to time through memoranda from the City or its Director to the Concessionaire.

RR. OPERATIONS WAREWASHING:

The Concessionaire will wash after each use, all non-disposable service ware, flatware, glassware, and cutlery to achieve maximum cleanliness and sanitation. The Concessionaire's washing of glassware and cutlery must produce spotless drying.

All concession/cash business operations will utilize high-quality disposable plates, cutlery, and cups. The City reserves the right however to require permanent small wares, dishes, silverware, glassware, and place settings to be provided in these and other operations when requested in writing to the Concessionaire.

All catering operations shall utilize permanent small wares, dishes, silverware, glassware, and place settings in service to their guests unless specified, modified, or altered in writing to the Concessionaire by the City.

SS. GARBAGE:

The Concessionaire shall transport all waste materials, including grease, from foodservice locations, including the areas within a twenty-five (25) foot radius of all fixed and mobile concession stands, to the dumpster or compactor area, as well as transporting recycling materials to recycling area in a manner and by a route designated by the Director. Such removal shall be made after each event.

Cost of repair of damage done to floors, walls, windows, or other property in said radius and other foodservice areas by reason of Concessionaire's negligent operation of said stand and other foodservice areas, or due to Concessionaire's willful misconduct, will be the responsibility of the Concessionaire and not a Cost of Sales. The Concessionaire must maintain a clean workspace subject to the approval of the Director.

The City shall provide sufficient waste receptacles at each Location.

TT. GREASE:

The Concessionaire must not discharge any grease into floor drains and must keep grease in containers for disposal by the Concessionaire. If the Concessionaire fails to comply with this

provision, any cost, charge, or expense involved in opening, cleaning, or repairing of drains shall be paid by the Concessionaire and not as a Cost of Sales.

Concessionaire expressly agrees to comply with all codes, ordinances, regulations, and laws regarding environmental health and safety matters, including the use and disposal of chemical or caustic cleaning agents and the like.

UU. PEST CONTROL:

The Concessionaire shall coordinate with the City for exterminators to control rodents and other vermin and pests as is necessary, but at least monthly. Such extermination services shall be supplied in all areas where food and/or merchandise are prepared, stored, or dispensed. Documentation of such services shall be retained and provided to the City and any costs regarding such services shall be deemed a Cost of Sales.

VV. FACILITY INSPECTIONS:

Formal inspections of the Locations may be conducted a minimum of four (4) times a year (January, April, July, October) by the Director, accompanied by the Concessionaire.

Semi-formal inspections of the Locations are to be conducted at selected intervals by the Concessionaire and the Director. A formal inspection checklist is to be prepared and completed by the Concessionaire and submitted to the City not later than three (3) working days following the inspection. A complete report of corrective measures taken or to be taken for any deficiencies noted should accompany the inspection report.

Informal inspections of the Locations are to be conducted daily by the Concessionaire with immediate corrective measures taken for any deficiencies noted.

WW. JANITORIAL AND MAINTENANCE SERVICES:

It shall be the Concessionaire's responsibility to maintain the Locations at a high level of neatness and cleanliness. Should these services be deemed unsatisfactory by the City, the City shall provide written notice to Concessionaire and a reasonable opportunity to cure the deficiency. If Concessionaire fails to cure such deficiency after such notice and reasonable opportunity to cure, City reserves the right to contract for or to directly provide such service and duly charge the Concessionaire for the same (which charge shall not be a Cost of Sales) until such time as Concessionaire cures such deficiency to City's reasonable satisfaction.

The remainder of this page left blank intentionally.

EXHIBIT H CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE

[TO BE ATTACHED]

